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This Report on Form 6-K shall be incorporated by reference in the prospectus, dated March 24, 2004,
of China Yuchai International Limited (the “Company” or “CYI”) included in the Company’s
Registration Statement (Registration No. 333-111106) on Form F-3 and to be part thereof from the
date on which this report is filed, to the extent not superseded by documents or reports subsequently
filed or furnished by the Company with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
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ABOUT US

The Yuchai Spirit provides ._
wholehearted service, seeks pract
solutions, corporate advancement and
commitment to growth

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

. Rmb’000 Rmb’000 Rmb’'000 Rmb’000 Rmb’'000
Net revenue 5,829,431 5.582,095 4,569,950 3,513,047 1,783,329
Net income 68,487 401,397 438,182 412,433 250,387

Basic and diluted earnings per share Rmb 1.88 Rmb 13.90 Rmb 12.40 Rmb 11.67 Rmb 7.09
Weighted aveﬁage number of shares 36,459,635 35,340,000 35,340,000 35,340,000 35,340,000

‘ Rmb'000 Rmb’000 Bmb’000 Rmb’000 Rmb’000
Total assets - 6,613,785 5,384,248 4.033,632 3,985,459 3,262,868

Stockholders’ équity 2,667,041 2,483,084 1,991,687 2,161,903 1,805,045

Net Revenue ; Net income Basic and Dituted

(in Rmb billions) ; (in Rmb millions) Earnings Per Share (in Amb)

5.83
5.58 { 491 13.90
457 438 12.40
3.51 412 11.67

7.09
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CORPORATE BACKGROUND

19 the Engines
for Success
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China Yuchai Limited (NYSE-CYD) (“CYI")
is a Bermuda holding company, which holds 76.4% of the
Yuchai
Company Limited (“Yuchai”). The Company is controlled by
Hong Leong Asia Ltd. ("HLA™) which indirectly holds 21.2% of
the outstanding ordinary shares as well as one special share of CYI.

International

outstanding common shares of Guangxi Machinery

The special share entitles HLA to, inter alia, elect a majority of the
directors of CY]1, and to veto resolutions of shareholders of CYI.

CYI’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol “CYD".

Yuchai is the principal operating subsidiary of CYI. Its business is
described below. As part of CYT’s business diversification plan, CYI
has in 2005 acquired a 15.99% equity interest in Thakral Corporation
Ltd, a distributor of consumer electronic goods and accessories in

China and Hong Kong. This investment is accounted for as an atfiliate

of CYI.

In February 2006, CYT acquired a 29.13% equity interest in LKN-
Primefield Limited (“"LKN")} and this investment has been accounted
for as an affiliate of CYI. LKN is primarily engaged in investment
holding and property and hospitality businesses in Asia.

Yuchai produces, assembles and sells diesel engines for light-duty,
medium-duty and heavy-duty trucks and buses in China.

With sales of approximately 230,228 units of diesel engines in 2005,

Yuchai remains to be one of the major diesel engine manufacturers
in China.

The main manufacturing facilicy of Yuchai is located in Yulin City in
the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region. The factory in Yulin has
a production capacity of approximately 290,000 units for light-duty,
medium-duty and heavy-duty diesel engines.

Yuchai has a strong reputation among vehicle manufacturers and
customers for its. performance, reliability and customer service.
It is one of the major suppliers of diesel engines to the Dongfeng Auto
Group of Companies in China for their medium-duty commercial
vehicles. [t also supplies diesel engines to major bus manufacturers and
independent truck-assemblers.

Yuchai provides a comprehensive range of after-sales services to
its customers and recognizes that reliable after-sales service is an
It has a
nationwide network of over 31 sales offices and 1,150 authorized

important part of maintaining its market competitiveness.

customer service centers providing repair and maintenance services,

spare parts, retrofitting services and training to customers.

Light-Duty Engines

Yuchai’s light-duty engines are called the “4-cylinder series”
which are primarily for light vans, minibuses and small trucks.
In 2005, Yuchai sold approximately 103,598 light duty engines with

CORPORATE BACKGROUND

a growth of 45% over the previous year. The gross margins for this
segment are generally lower than the medium-duty and heavy-duty
diesel engines due to the competitive environment.

Medium-Duty Engines

Yuchai’s principal products are its medium-duty 6105 and 6108 diesel
engines, used primarily in medium-duty vehicles weighing between
five to seven tons. It sold about 106,939 units of 6105 and 6108 diesel
engines in 2005, a decline of approximately 1% over 2004. Unit sales
of 6105 and 6108 diesel engines declined in 2005 primarily due to the
shift in demand by customers to the light-duty engines arising from
the tightening of credit by banks in China. The medium-duty engines
are more expensive than the light-duty engines.

Heavy-Duty Engines

In 2005, Yuchai sold about 19,041 units of the 6112 and the new
super heavy-duty 6L/6M (formerly referred to as 6113) diesel
engines. There is a higher level of acceptance by customers for
the heavy-duty engines. However, due to the tight credit lending
policies by banks in China, demand for new trucks and buses
had been adversely affected. Accordingly, Yuchai will increase
marketing efforts to achieve more sales in its 6112 and 6L/6M
Growth of the 6L/6M diesel
(6-cylinder series, 300 — 390 Hp) is expected to be strong over the

heavy-duty engines. engines
next few years and it should contribute significantly to the profit

growth for Yuchal.

Economic Outlook

China achieved GDP growth of 9% in 2005 and 10.2% in the first
quarter of 2006, The Chinese government expects growth trend to
continue in 2006. The official target of 9% growth rate in the next
few vyears is expected to be achievable due to more foreign driven
investments and increased level of consumer spending.

The tight credit lending policies by banks in China have affected the
overall demand for the commercial vehicles industry. According to
Government industry statistics, there was a decline of approximately
1% in 2005 for sales of trucks and buses in China as compared to 2004
(source data: China Association of Automobile Manufacturers). During
the downturn, Yuchai was still able to achieve an increase of 11% in
rotal unit sales due to its successful marketing programs for its engines,
with much of the increase coming from 6105 medium-duty engines,
4-cylinder series light-duty and industrial engines. On the other hand,
customer demand for the 6108, 6112 and 6L/6M diesel engines are
lower due to these engines being more expensive than the light-duty
engines and also adversely affected by the credit tightening in China.

Yuchai has a strong brand name in China with an extensive sales and
marketing network. It is well-positioned as a major manufacturer of
diesel engines in China with a significant market share. We expect
the demand for medium-duty and heavy-duty engines in China will
recover due to continuing development of highways and improvements
in logistical efficiency.
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PRESIDENT’'S STATEMENT

Teo Tong KOOI President

I'am pleased to report that ChinaYuchai International Limited (“CY1”) continued

to achieve sales growth in 2005, despite the decreasing sales trend in the China

diesel engines industry. The tight credit lending policies by the banks in China

had adversely affected demand for new trucks and buses. Government industry

statistics indicate that in 2005 there was a decrease of approximately 1% in sales of

trucks and buses in China compared to 2004.

Guangxi Yuchai Limited
("Yuchai”), the principal operating subsidiary
of CYI, had for the year ended December 31,
2005 reported a net income of Rmb68.5 million

Machinery Company

(US$8.3 million) as compared to net income of
Rmb491.4 million in 2004. The Company's results of
operations were adversely affected by the weak gross
margins and compounded by the specific provision
made of Rmb205.0 million (US$25.4 million) for

loans (non-trade) to a related company.

Net sales of Rmb5,829.4 million (US$$722.3 million)
for the year ended December 31, 2005 represents an
increase of 4.4% compared to the previous year of
Rmb5,582.1 million. Total unit sales of 230,228
diesel engines for the year ended December 31,
2005 was 11% higher than the same period last year
of 206,628 diesel engines. This increase in net sales
was primarily atwibutable to higher unit sales of
the 4-series light-duty diesel and industrial engines.
However, unit sales of 6105, 6112 and 6L/6M diesel

engines were Jlower in 2005 as compared to 2004.

The overall gross margin of 22.3% for 2005 was
20.9% lower than the 28.2% gross margin of the

previous year mainly due to product sales mix and
higher raw material costs. Yuchai sold 45% more
units of the lower margin light-duty diesel engines
and 26% less units of the higher margin heavy diesel
engines in 2005 compared to 2004.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, selling,
general and administrative expenses increased by
approximately 22.6% due mainly to higher transport
charges, legal and professional fees and other

operating expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, there was
a specific doubtful debt provision totaling Rmb 205.0
million (US$25.4 million) on the loans due from
Yuchai Marketing and Logistics Company (“YMLC”)
in full. The loans were given out to YMLC in 2004
arising from the request of the shareholders of YMLC
(Coomber Investment Limited (“"Coomber”) and
Guangxi Yuchai Machinery Holdings Company, also
sometimes referred to as Guangxi Yuchai Machinery
Limited (the “State Holding
Company”)) to provide inital working capital for
the start-up activites of YMLC. YMLC was set up

with the intention to offer a complementary range

Group Company
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of services including spare parts distribution, insurance,

vehicle financing and warranty servicing. For details,
please refer to Note 5 on the notes to consolidated

financial statements.

Research and development expenses have decreased to
Rmb123.9 million (US$15.4 million) from Rmb137.0
million for the previous year due to a marginal reduction
in spending on the new engine development program.

Interest expense increased to Rmb70.5 million (US$8.7
million) for the year ended Decerber 31, 2005 as
compared to Rinb31.8 million for the previous year due
to an increase of Yuchai bank loans during the year.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, trade account
receivables and inventories increased as a result of higher
sales volume and normal seasonalicy factors. Bank
borrowings increased for 2005 mainly due to increased
capital expenditure payments made and higher working
capital requirements during the year ended December
31, 2005.

PRESIDENT'S STATEMENT

Yuchai management believe that growth is expected to
return in future periods over the longer term due to
the continuing development of highways throughout
China and improvements in logistical efficiency. Yuchai
management also believes that the new super heavy-
duty diesel engine — 6L/6M (previously called 6113)
remains to have a positive outlook in the longer term,
arising from potential demand for bigger trucks and
buses.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to
thank all the shareholders, customers, business associates,
management and staff for their strong support and
co-operation, and look forward to a better 2006 and
beyond.

Teo Tong Kooi
President
4 August 2006
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

AN

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
Bermuda and is subject to the laws of that jurisdiction. The legal
framework in Bermuda which applies to exempted companies
is flexible and allows an exempted company to comply with
the corporate governance regime of the relevant jurisdiction in
which the company operates or applicable listing standards. Under
Bermuda law, members of a board of directors owe a fiduciary
duty to the company to act in good faith in their dealings with or
on behalf of the company and to exercise their powers and fulfill
the duties of their office honestly. In addition, the Bermuda
company legislation imposes a duty on directors and officers of
an exempted company to act honestly and in good faith with a
view to the best interests of the company and requires them to
exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent
person would exercise in comparable circumstances. Bermuda
legislation also imposes certain specific duties and obligations on
companies and directors, both directly and indirectly, including
duties and obligations with respect to matters such as (a) loans
to directors and related persons and (b) limits on indemnities
for directors and officers. Bermuda law does not impose specific
obligations in respect of corporate governance, such as those

prescribed by NYSE listing standards, requiring a company to (i)

appoint independent directors to their boards; (i) hold regular
meetings of non-management directors; (iii) establish audit,
nominating and governance or compensation comumittees; (iv)
have shareholders approve equity compensation plans; (v) adopt
corporate governance guidelines; or (vi) adopt a code of business

conduct and ethics.

The Company is also subject to the NYSE listing standards,
although, because it is a foreign private issuer, those standards
are considerably different from those applied to U.S. companies.
Under the NYSE rules, the Company need only (i) establish an
independent audit committee that has specified responsibilities as
described in the following table; (i1) provide prompt certification
by its chief executive officer of any material non-compliance
with any corporate governance rules; (ili) provide periodic
written affirmations to the NYSE with respect to its corporate
governance practices and (iv) provide a brief description of
significant differences between its corporate governance practices

and those followed by U.S. companies.

The following table compares the Company’s principal corporate

governance practices to those required of U.S. companies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Standard forjv U.S. Listed Companies

Director Independence

* A majority of the board must consist of independent directors.
Independence 1s defined by wvarious criteria including the
absence of a material relationship between the director and the
listed company. Directors who are employees, are immediate
family of the chief executive officer or receive over $100,000
per year in direct compensation from the listed company are
not independent. Directors who are employees of or otherwise
affiliated through immediate family with the listed company’s
independent auditor are also not independent.

China Yuchai International Limited’s Practice

» Three of the Company’s nine directors, Messrs. Raymond
C.K. Ho, Neo Poh Kiat and Tan Aik-Leang, are independent
within the meaning of the NYSE standards. Mr. Ho has
notified the company that he will not be secking re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company. The
company is currently searching for a replacement independent
director, and until such a person is appointed, the company will
have only two independent directors within the meaning of
NYSE standards.

* The non-management directors of each company must meet at
regularly scheduled executive sessions without management.

+ The Company’s non-management directors do not meet
periodically without management directors.

Audit Committee

» Listed companies must have an audit commiittee that satisfies
the requirements of Rule 10A-3 under the Securities Exchange
Act. The rule requires that the audit committee (i) be comprised
entirely of independent directors; (i) be directly responsible for
the appointment, compensation and oversight of the independent
auditor; (iif) adopt procedures for the receipt and treatment of
complaints with respect to accounting and auditing issues; (iv)
be authorized to engage independent counsel and other advisors
it deems necessary in performing its duties; and (v) be given
sufficient funding by the board of directors to compensate
the independent auditors and other advisors as well as for the
payment of ordinal'y administrative expenses incurred by the
committee.

* The Company’s audit committee meets the requirements of
Rule 10A-3, under the Securities Exchange Act.

» The audit committee must consist of at least three members,

and each member must be independent within the meaning
established by the N'YSE.

* The Company’s audit committee currently consists of three
members., each of whom is independent within the meaning
established by NYSE. However, Mr. Ho has notified the company
that he will not be seeking re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the company. The company is currently
searching for a replacement independent director, and until such
a person is appointed, the Company’s audit committee will have
only two independent members.

*The audit committee must have a written charter that addresses
the committee’s purpose and responsibilities.

* The Company’s audit committee has a charter outlining the
committec’s purpose and responsibilities, which are similar in
scope to those required of U.S. companies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Standard for U.S. Listed Companies

Audit Commiittee (cont’d)

At a minimum, the committee’s purpose must be to assist the
board in the oversight of the integrity of the company’s financial
statements, the company’s compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the independent auditor’s qualifications and
independence and the performance of the company’s internal
audit function and independent auditors.

The audit committee is also required to review the independent
auditing firm’s annual report, describing the firm’s internal
quality control procedures, any material issues raised by the most
recent internal quality control review or peer review of the firm
and any steps taken to address such issues. The audit commiittee
is also to assess the auditor’s independence by reviewing all
relationships between the company and its auditor. It must
establish the company’s hiring guidelines for employees and
former employees of the independent auditor.

The comunittee must also discuss the company’s annual audited
financial statements and quarterly financial statements with
management and the independent auditors, the company’s
earnings press releases, as well as financial information and
earnings guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies, and
policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management. It
must also meet periodically with the internal auditors and the
board of directors.

China Yuchai International Limited’s Practice

* Each listed company must have disclose whether their board
of directors has identified an Audit Committee Financial Expert,
and if not the reasons why the board has not done so.

* The Board of Directors has identified Mr Tan Aik-Leang as the
Company’s Audit Committee Financial Expert.

+ Each listed company must have an internal audit function.

* The Company’s internal audit function is provided by Hong
Leong Asia Ltd.

Compensation Committee

* Listed companies must have a compensation committee
composed entirely of independent board members as defined by
the N'YSE listing standards.

* The Company’s compensation committee has three members,
two of whom are independent within the meaning of the NYSE
standards. Upon the resignation of Mr. Ho, the Company’s
compensation cormmittee will only have one independent
director.

* The committee must have a written charter that addresses its
purpose and responsibilities.

These responsibilities include (i) reviewing and approving
corporate goals and objectives relevant to CEO compensation; (ii)
evaluating CEO performance and compensation in light of such
goals and objectives for the CEO; (iii) based on such evaluation,

« The Company’s compensation committee reviews among
other things the Company’s general compensation structure,
and reviews, recommends or approves executive appointments,
compensation and benefits of directors and executive officers,
subject to ratification by the Board of Directors and supervises
the administration of the Company’s employee benefit plans, if
any.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Standard for U.S. Listed Companies

Compensation Committee (cont’d)

reviewing and : approving CEQO compensation levels; (iv)
recommending to the board non-CEO compensation, incentive
compensation plans and equity-based plans; and (v) producing a

report on executive compensation as required by the Securities

and Exchange Commission to be included in the company’s
annual proxy statement or annual report. The committee must
also conduct an annual performance self-evaluation.

China Yuchai International Limited’ Practice

Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee

* Listed companies must have a noninating/corporate governance
committee composed entirely of independent board members.

The committee must have a written charter that addresses its
purpose and responsibilities, which include (i) identifying
qualified individuals to become board member; (i) selecting,
or recommendiﬁg that the board select, the director nominees
for the next annual meeting of shareholders; (iii) developing
and recommending to the board a set of corporate governance
principles applicable to the company; (iv) overseeing the
evaluation of the board and management; and (v) conducting an
annual performance evaluation of the committee.

* The Company does not have a nominating/corporate
governance committee. However, certain responsibilities of this
committee are undertaken by the Compensation Committee of
the Company, such as the review and approval of the executive
appolntments.

Equity-Compensation Plans

* Shareholders must be given the opportunity to vote on all
equity-compensation plans and material revisions thereto, with
limited exceptions.

* The Company intends to have its shareholders approve equity-
compensation plans.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

» Listed companies must adopt and disclose corporate governance
guidelines.

* The Company has adopted the following corporate governance
guidelines:

1. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

2. Audit Commitee Charter

3. Whistleblowing Policy

4. Insider Trading Policy

5. Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

* All listed companies, U.S. and foreign, must adopt and disclose
a code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers and
employees, and promptly disclose any waivers of the code for
directors or executive officers.

* The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics Policy, a copy of which is available upon request from the
Company.

3
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MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

The directors and executive officers of the Company at the date of this report are identified below:
Date First Elected or

Name Nationality Position Appointed Director and
Officer

Shells Mussgasy " Sogpore | ChiefLegtl Officer 2008

(1) Also a director of Yuchai
(2) Member of the Audit Committee
(3) Member of the Compensation Committee

15
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een\Reglstere Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Di(éctors and Stockholders
China Yuchai International Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of China Yuchai International Limited (the “Company”) and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, all expressed
in Renminbi, from page 18 to page 68. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to'express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free; of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of China Yuchai International Limited and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2005, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As describedin Nofe 5, the Company recognized a provision for uncoilectible loans to a related party in the amount of Rmb2osg
miltion as of December 31, 2005. Further, as described in Note 34, the Company entered into certain material transactions
subsequent to December 31, 2005.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements-as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005 have been translated
into U.S. dollars solely for the convenience of the reader. We have audited the translation and, in our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements expressed in Renminbi have been translated into U.S. dollars on the basis set forth in Note 3() to the
consolidated financial statements.

KPMG ;

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, ‘

August 4, 2006
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” LONSOLIDATED STATE] mﬂlililﬂl\‘miﬂrlﬂ_WW E— —

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues, net @
Cost of goods sold @
Gross profit

Research and
development costs

Selling, general and administrative
expenses®

Provision for uncolleétible loans to a related
party

Gain on transfer of lease prepayment to a
related party

Operating income

Interest expense

Equity in losses of affiliates
Other (expenses)/income, net®

Income before income taxes and
minority interests

Income taxes
Income before minority interests

Minority interests in income of
consolidated subsidiaries

Net income

Net earnings per common share
Basic

Diluted
Weighted average number of shares
Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years ended December 31,

Note 2003
Rmb
3(k), 27,28,33 4,569,950

4 27 (3,192,794)
1,377,156
3(m) (94,594)
3(m), 4,
14, 27 (561,151)
5
27
721,411
3(s), 6, 28 (23,624)
7 (881)
696,906
8 (112,924)
583,982
(145,800)
438,182
3() 12.40
3(0 12.40
3() 35,340,000
30 35,340,000

2004 2005 2005
Rmb Rmb ussS
5,582,095 EERFINLE 722,340
(ORLIREIN (4.527,046)  (560,958)
1,575,209 1,302,385 161,382
(136,960) (123,876) (15,350)
(658,320) EERCLYETT) (100,041)
(205,000) (25,402)
- 2,533 314
779,929 168,692 20,903
(31,757) (70,527) (8,739)
(5,106) (633)
5,682 24,183 2,997
753,854 117,242
(105,165) (20,875)
648,689 96,367 11,941
(157,292) (27,880) (3,455)
13.90
13.90
EETETAeR el 36,459,635 36,459,635
35,340,000

ANNUAL REPORT 20058




P ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

(@) Includes the ﬁollowing income and expenses resulting from transactions with related parties in addition to those

indicated avae {see Note 5 and 27)

Years ended December 31,

2003

Rmb
Revenues, neft 24,957
Cost of goods; solc‘ (93,056)
Selling, geneéral and administrative expenses (97,240)

Other (expenses)/income, ret

2004 2005
Rmb Rmb

4,537 7,646
(250,549) (417,816)
(90,790) (186,759)

- 11,922

19
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2005
uss

947

(51,772)

(23,141)

1,477



\
O SO LA D B A AN

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,

Note 2004
Rmb

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 722,672 736,195 91,224
Trade accounts receivable, net 9,18(a) - 875,565 1,146,227 142,032
Amounts due from related parties 10, 27 85,614 233,188 28,895
Loans to a related party 5 205,000 - -
Loans to customers, net 11 - 7,904 979
Inventories, net 12 1,346,545 1,636,283 202,756
Prepaid expenses, net 58,565 138,322 17,140
Other receivables, net 13 115,414 140,203 17,373
Income taxes recoverable - 43,526 5,394
Deferred income taxes : 8 69,704 88,783 11,001
Total current assets 3,479,079 4,170,631 516,794
Property, plant and equipment, net 14, 18(a) 1,158,931 1,442,515 178,746
Construction in progress 15 379,035 459,902 56,988
Lease prepayments, net 16 74,767 70,608 8,749
Investments 17 7,053 191,974 23,788
Goodwill ‘ 212,636 212,636 26,348
Deferred income taxes 8 72,747 65,519 8,119
Total assets 5,384,248
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term bank loans 18(a) 430,000 812,835 100,721
Current instalments of long-term bank loans 18(b) - 100,000 12,391
Amount due to the holding company 27 4,143 4,301 533
Amounts due to related parties 10, 27 42,686 75,189 9,317
Trade accounts payable 1,089,717 1,642,980 203,586
Income taxes payable 25,387 4,208 521
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 20 484,920 571,717 70,843
Total current liabilities 2,076,853 3,211,230 397,912
Long-term bank loans, excluding current instalments 18(b) 100,000 50,000 6,196

Total liabilities carried forward 2,176,853 3,261,230 404,108

20
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LONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,
Note 2004 2005
Rmb Rmb
Total liabilities brought forward 2,176,853 3,261,230
Minority interests 724,311
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock 30,349

Ordinary shares US$o.10 par value:
authorized 100,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
37,267,673 shares at December 31, 2005
(December 31, 2004: 35,340,000 shares)

Special share US$0.10 par value:
authorized 1 share; issued and outstanding 1 share at
December 31, 2o¢4 and 2005

Contributed surplus 1,486,934 1,692,251 209,691

Statutory reserves 22 266,229 269,017 33,335
Accumulated otherécomprehensive income - 28,851 3,575
Retained earnings 699,572 644,977 79,921
Total stockholdersf equity . 2,483,084 2,667,041 330,480
Commitments and &ontingencies 23, 24

Total liabilities ancj stockholders’ equity 5,384,248

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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R 05 OTTOATED STAFEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPRENENGIVE INCONE

~ FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

Accumulated
other Total
Common Contributed Statutory Retained  comprehensive stockholders’
Note stock surplus reserves -earnings income equity
Rmb Rmb Rmb Rmb Rmb Rmb
Balance at January 1, 2003 30,349 1,486,934 170,806 473,814 - 2,161,903
Net income - - - 438,182 - 438,182
Transfer to statutory
reserves 22 - - 59,114 (59,114)
Dividend declared
(US$2.08 per share) . - . (608,398) - (608,398)
Balance at December 31, 2003 R 30,349 1,486,934 229,920 244,484 - 1,991,687
Net income - - - 491,397 - 491,397
Transfer to statutory reserves 22 - - 36,309 (36,309) - -
Balance at December 31, 2004 30,349 1,486,934 266,229 699,572 - 2,483,084
Net income - - - 68,487 - 68,487

Net unrealised appreciation in
fair value of investment

securities held by an

affiliate, net of nil tax - - - - 38,869 38,869
Foreign currency

translation adjustment,

net of nil tax - . - - (10,018) (10,018)
Comprehensive income 97,338

Transfer to statutory

reserves 22 - - 2,788 (2,788) - -
Shares issued in

connection with

- Conversion of 2%

convertible debt,

1,927,673 shares 19 1,596 205,317 - - - 206,913
Dividend declared
(US%$0.39 per share) - - - (120,294) - (120,294)

Balance at December 31, 2005 31,945 1,692,251 269,017 644,977

Balance at December
31, 2005 (in USS)

209,601 33,335 330,480

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2003 2004
Rmb Rmb

Cash provided by operating activities
Net income 438,182 491,397
Adjustments to recbnci[e net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:

- Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and

equipment, and lease prepayments 125,519 132,789 139,720

- Provision for uncollectible loans to a related party - - 205,000

- Impairment of property, plant and equipment 12,405 -

-Loss on disposal§ of property, plant and equipment 3,359 12,998 10,474

- Gain on transfer bf land use rights to a related party - - (2,533)

- Deferred incomeitaxes 6,253 1,116 (11,851)

- Provision for losses on guarantees - 12,318

- Equity in losses of affiliates - 5,106

- Dividend received from an affiliated company - 7,815

- Minority interesté 145,800 157,292 27,880
(|ncrease)/decreasfe in assets
- Inventories, net (34,105) (469,211) (289,738) (35,902)
- Amounts due from related parties, net (36,446) {5,534) (115,071) (14,259)
- Trade accounts receivable, net 153,524 (25,954) (270,662) (33,538)
- Prepaid expenses, net 64,752 (21,069) (79,757) (9,883)
- Other receivables, net 9,885 (106,581) (24,789) (3,072)
Increase/(decreasé) in liabilities

- Trade accounts rjayable 103,065 357,751 553,263 68,556

- Income taxes payable (11,181) (21,842) (64,705) (8,018)

- Accrued expensés and other liahilities 90,154 88,521 71,559 8,867

- Amount due to hﬁolding company 4,108 (2,065) 158 20
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,075,274 589,608

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
~ FORYEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands)

Years ended December 31,

China Yuchai International Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2005




FONCOUDATED SIATEMENTS OF CASHTLOW e/

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands)

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, lease
prepayments and construction in progress

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of land use rights

Repayment of loans by a related party

Loans to a related party

Loans to customers, net

Purchase of investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from short-term bank loans

Proceeds from short-term borrowing from a related party
Proceeds from long-term bank loans

Proceeds from 2% convertible bonds

Repayment of short-term bank loans

Repayment of long-term bank {oans

Repayment of short-term borrowing from a related party
Capital contribution from minority stockholders
Dividend paid by subsidiaries to minority stockholders
Dividend paid to stockholders

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities

Effect of foreign currency exchange on cash and cash
equivalents

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalent\s at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for:

- Interest, net of amount capitalized
- Income taxes

Years ended December 31,

(753,367) (677,215) (83,915)

2003 2004
Rmb Rmb
(372,775)  (552,902) (515,359)
402 5,883 3,826
- " 37580
. 205,000
(205,000) (205,000)
- (7'904)
(1,348) (161,358)
(372,373)
230,000 330,000 1,188,178
8,000 - -
- 100,000 50,000
- - 206,913
(125,000) (190,000) (805,343)
{(130,000) - -
- (8,000)
- 31,000 -
(88,765) (8,507) (66,677)
(608,398) . (120,294)
(714,163) 254,493 452,777
- (4,713)
(11,262) 90,734 13,523
643,200 631,938 722,672
631,938
23,624 31,757
117,852 125,891

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(63,860)
474
444

25,402

(25,402)

(979)
(19,994)

147,230

6,196
25,639
(99,792)

(8,262)
(14,906)

1,676

89,548

722,672 736,195 91,224




R OIS 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Background and principal activities

China Yuchai fnternational Limited (the “Company™) was incorporated under the laws of Bermuda on April 29, 1993. The
Company was established to acquire a controlling interest in Guangxi Yuchai Machinery Company Limited (“Yuchai”), a
Sino-foreign jbint stock company which manufactures, assembles and sells diesel engines in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PI;QC”). The principal markets for Yuchai’s diesel engines are truck manufacturers in the PRC.

The Companyg owns, through six wholly-owned subsidiaries, 361,420,150 shares or 76.41% of the issued share capital of
Yuchai (“Foreign Shares of Yuchai”). Guangxi Yuchai Machinery Group Company Limited (“State Holding Company”), a
state-owned énterprise, owns 22.09% of the issued share capital of Yuchai (“State Shares of Yuchai”).

in December 1994, the Company issued a special share (the “Special Share”) at par value of US$0.10 to Diesel Machinery
(BVI) Limited E(“DML”), a company controlled by Hong Leong Corporation Limited, now known as Hong Leong (China)
Limited (“HLQ”). The Special Share entitles its holder to designate the majority of the Company’s Board of Directors
(six of eleven). The Special Share is not transferable except to Hong Leong Asia Ltd. (“HLA”), the holding company of
HLC, orany of its affiliates. During 2002, DML transferred the Special Share to HL Technology Systems Pte Ltd (“HLT™),
a subsidiary df HLC. |

Yuchai established three direct subsidiaries, Yuchai Machinery Monopoly Company Limited (“YMMC”), Guangxi Yulin
Yuchai Machihery Spare Parts Manufacturing Company Limited (“GYSPM™) and Yuchai Express Guarantee Company
Limited (“YEdCL”). YMMC and GYSPM were established in 2000, and are involved in the manufacture and sale of spare
parts and corhponents for diesel engines in the PRC. YEGCL, was established in 2004, and is involved in the provision
of financial gtfjarantees to mortgage loan applicants in favour of banks in connection with the applicants’ purchase of
automobiles équipped with diesel engines produced by Yuchai. As at December 31, 2005, Yuchai held an equity interest
of 71.83%, 97;.14% and 76.92% respectively in these companies. As at December 31, 2005, YMMC had direct controlling
interests in tWenty (2004: twenty-one) subsidiaries, which are involved in the trading and distribution of spare parts of
diesel engines and automobiles, all of which are established in the PRC.

In March 2oo§, the Company acquired 14.99% of the enlarged issued ordinary shares of Thakral Corporation Ltd (“TCL”).
TCL is a combany listed on the main board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Singapore
Exchange”) ahd is involved in the manufacture, assembly and distribution of high-end consumer electronic products
and home entertainment products in the PRC. Three directors out of ten directors on the board of TCL are appointed by
the Company.‘; Based on the Company’s shareholdings and representation in the board of directors of TCL, management
has conclude%ﬂ that the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence in the TCL's board. Consequently, the
Company’s cc}nsolidated financial statements included the Company’s share of the results of TCL, accounted for on
equity basis siince acquisition. The Company acquired additional 1.00% of the issued ordinary shares of TCLin September
2005,

Basis of presentation

.The accompénying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting pfinciples {“U.S. GAAP”). This basis of accounting differs from that used in the statutory financial statements
of Yuchai, whi;ch are prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and the Accounting
Regulations fbr Business Enterprises issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC (“PRC GAAP™).

25
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~ FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies and practices

(a)

(b

(c)

(d)

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company, its majority-owned
subsidiaries and those entities that the Company has determined it has a direct or indirect controlling financial
interests. All significantintercompany balances andtransactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In addition,
the Company evaluates its relationships with other entities to identify whether they are variable interest entities as
defined by the Financial Accounting Standard Board (the “FASB”) Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46 (R), “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46(R)”) and to assess whether it is the primary beneficiary of such entities. Ifthe
determination is made that the Company is the primary beneficiary, then that entity is included in the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with FIN 46(R). The Company was not the primary beneficiary of any variable
interest entities during the three years ended December 31, 2005.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and demand deposits with banks. For purposes of the consolidated statements of
cash flows, the Company considered all highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three months or
less to be cash equivalents. None of the Company’s cash is restricted as to withdrawal. See Note 29 for discussion
of restrictions on the Renminbi.

Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced value of goods sold after deduction of trade discounts and
allowances, if any. Amounts collected on trade accounts receivable are included in net cash provided by operating
activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best
estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the Company’s existing accounts receivable. The Company
determines the allowance based on historical write-off experience by industry and national economic data.

The Company reviews its allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. Past due balances over 9o days and over a
specified amount are reviewed individually for collectibility. All other balances are reviewed on a pooled basis
by aging of such balances. Account balances are tharged off against the allowance after all means of collection
have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company does not have any off-
balance-sheet credit exposure related to its customers, except for outstanding bills discounted with banks (see
Note 24(g)), that are subject to recourse for non-payment.

Inventories, net

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and market. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost method.
Cost of work in progress and finished goods comprises direct materials, direct labor and an attributable portion of
production overheads.

» 26
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NOTES 1O CONSQO -D) FINANCIA M E N
FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

3 Summary of éigniﬁcant accounting policies and practices (continued)

(e) Propert}, plant and equipment

Propert\}, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method over the
estimatéd useful lives of the assets, taking into account the estimated residual vatue. The estimated useful lives
are as f{)llows:

Buildings ) ﬂ 30 t0 40 years
Machinery and equipment 5 to 15 years

) Cbnstru:ction in progress

Construiction in progress represents factories under construction and machinery and equipment pending
installaﬁion. All direct costs relating to the acquisition or construction of buildings and machinery and equipment,
includini’g interest charges on borrowings, are capitalized as construction in progress. No depreciation is provided
in respéct of construction in progress.

Construction of plant is considered to be complete on the date when the plant is substantially ready for its intended
use notwithstanding whether the plant is capable of producing saleable output in commercial quantities.

i

(9) Lease prepayments

Lease plrepayments represent land use rights paid to the PRC land bureau. Land use rights are carried at cost
and ambrtized on a straight-line basis over the respective periods of the rights which are in the range of 15 to 50
years. |

(h) Investments

An afﬁlifated company is an entity in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence in its
ﬁnanciait and operating policy decisions, but does not have a controlling financial interest. Investments in affiliates
are accounted for by equity method.

lnvestmients in available-for-sale equity securities are recorded at fair value. Unrealized holding gains and losses,
net of the related tax effect, on available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and are reported as a
separaté component of other comprehensive income/(loss) until realized. Realized gains and losses from the sale
of availéble-for-sale equity securities are determined on a specific-identification basis. However, equity securities
that are% not traded in an active market and whose fair values cannot be reliably estimated are accounted for at
their acﬁuisition cost.

The Conﬁpany recognizes an impairment loss when the decline in fairvalue below the carrying value of an investment
is considered other than temporary.

China Yuchai International Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2005



\
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |

~ FORYEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

3  Summary of significant accounting policies and practices (continued)

(i) Foreign currency transactions and translation

Transactions denominated in currencies other than Renminbi are translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates
quoted by the People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC”) prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Renminbi using the applicable exchange rates
guoted by PBOC at the balance sheet dates. The resulting exchange differences are recorded in the consolidated
statements of income as part of the related transaction amounts.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the exchange rate regime of Renminbi was reformed by mdving into
a managed floating exchange regime based on market supply and demand with reference to a basket of foreign
currencies from the unified controlled exchange rate based on market supply and demand.

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates whose functionat currency is not Renminbi are translated
into Renminbi using the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average
rates prevailing during the year. The gains and losses resulting from translation of financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries and affiliates are recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income/
(loss) within stockholders’ equity. Cumulative translation adjustments are recognized as income or expense upon
disposal or liquidation of a foreign subsidiary and affiliate. '

For the U.S. dollar convenience translation amounts included in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements, the Renminbi equivalent amounts were translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on the balance
sheet date which is US$1.00 = Rmb8.0702, the rate quoted by the PBOC at the close of business on December 30,
2005. No representation is made that the Renminbi amounts could have been, or could be, converted into U.S.
dollars at that rate or at any other certain rate on December 30, 2005 or at any other date.

(j) Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statements carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry-
forwards. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance to the extent the Company concludes it is more
likely than not that the assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates, if any, is recognized
in the statements of income in the financial year that includes the enactment date.
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FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

3  Summary of $igniﬁcant accounting policies and practices (continued)

k) Revenu;e recognition
0] Plfoduct sales

Révenue is recognized in accordance with U.S. GAAP as described in the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition” (“SAB 104”). SAB 104 generally requires
thét four basic criteria be met before revenue can be recognized: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists; (i) the price is fixed or determinable; (iii) collectibility is reasonably assured; and (iv) product delivery
has occurred. Forthe Company, these criteria are generally considered to be met upon delivery and acceptance
ofgproducts at the customer site.

Product sales represent the invoiced value of goods, net of value added taxes (“VAT”), sales returns, trade
di$counts and allowances. Yuchai and its subsidiaries are subject to VAT which is levied on the majority of
their products at the rate of 17% of the invoiced value of sales. Qutput VAT is borne by customers in addition
to§ the invoiced value of sales. VAT paid by Yuchai and its subsidiaries on its purchases of materials and
sufpplies is recoverable out of VAT collected from sales to their customers,

(i) Guarantee fee income

GL}arantee fees received or receivable for a guarantee issued are recorded in “Accrued expenses and other
liabilities” based upon the estimated fair value of guaranty obligations, and are amortized into revenue on
a straight line basis over the respective terms of the guarantees. The Company will record an adjustment to
thia carrying amount of its obligations through a charge to earnings if it determines that it is probable that the
Cc:>mpany will be required to perform under the guaranty.

iii) Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating lease is recognized in the consolidated statements of income in
eciual instalments over the period covered by the lease term.
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FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

3  Summary of significant accounting policies and practices (continued)

()  Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing income attributable to common shares by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for the period.

The reconciliation of the Company’s EPS is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2003 2004
Rmb Rmb
Net income attributable '
to common shares N 438,182 491,397
Basic earnings per share
- Weighted average common ,
shares outstanding during the year 35,340,000 35,340,000 36,459,635 36,459,635
- Basic earnings per
share of common shares 12.40 13.90

There were no potentially dilutive securities putstanding as of December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005.

(m) Advertising, research and development costs

Advertising, research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising cost included in “Selling,
general and administrative expenses”, amounted to Rmb40,961, Rmb48,725 and Rmb4s,291 (US$5,612)
~ respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005.

Research and development expenses are shown net of a government subsidy of Rmbs,915 (US$733) for the year
ended December 31, 2005. No such government subsidy was received for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2004.
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FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

3  Summary of éigniﬁcant accounting policies and practices (continued)

(n) Goodwill

Goodwiil represents the excess of costs over fair value of net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is not
amortizéd, but instead is tested for impairment at least annually and when certain circumstances indicate a
possiblé impairment may exist. The Company evaluates the recoverability of goodwill using a two-step impairment
test appiroach at the reporting unit level at the end of each year. In the first step, the fair value of the reporting unit
is compéred to its carrying value including goodwill. The fair value of the reporting unit is determined based upon
discounied future cash flows. In the case that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a
second $tep is performed which compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to the book value
of the gé)odwill. in determining the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill, the fair values of the tangible
net asséts and recognized and unrecognized intangible assets is deducted from the fair value of the reporting
unit. If ;the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill is lower than its carrying amount, goodwill is considered
impairea and is written down to its implied fair value. The results of the impairment testing in 2003, 2004 and
2005 di(::l not result in any impairment of goodwill.

(o) Product warranty

The Conﬁpany provides, at the time the product is sold, for the estimated future costs to be incurred under a warranty
period dr warranty mileage on various engine models, which the Company provides free repair and replacement.
Warranties generally extend for a duration (12 months to 18 months) or mileage {80,000 kilometres to 180,000
kilometres), whichever is the lower. Provisions for warranty are primarily determined based on historical warranty
cost pef unit of engines sold adjusted for specific conditions that may arise and the number of engines under
warranty at each financial year-end.

(p) Useof éstimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management of the
Companjy to make a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reported amount of assets and liabilities
and thedisclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reporte{i amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant items subject to such estimates and
assump:tions include the recoverability of the carrying amount of long-lived assets including goodwill; realizable
values for inventories; valuation allowances for receivables; and obligations for warranty costs. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
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~ FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

3  Summary of significant accounting policies and practices (continued)

(q) Impairment of long-lived assets, other than goodwill

Long-lived assets to be held and used, such as property, plant and equipment, construction in progress and
lease prepayments, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured
by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment
charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.
Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the consolidated balance sheet and reported at the -
lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated.

(r) Commitments and contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies, arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines and penalties and other sources
are recorded when it is probable that an obligation has been incurred and the amount of the assessment and/or
remediation can be reasonably estimated.

(s) Sales of trade accounts receivable

The Company sells trade accounts and bills receivable to banks on an ongoing basis. The buyer is responsible for
servicing the receivables upon maturity of the trade accounts receivable. Sales of the trade accounts receivable are
accounted for under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities”. Accordingly, trade accounts and bills receivable
are derecognized, and the Company records a discount equal to the difference between the carrying value of the
trade accounts and bills receivable and cash received. The Company has received proceeds for the sales of the
‘trade accounts and bills receivable of Rmb1,730,627, Rmb2,380,569 and Rmb3,423,296 (US$424,190), for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. The Company has recorded discounts totalled of
Rmb22,042, Rmb31,709 and Rmbs4,362 (US$5,497) in respect of sold trade accounts and bills receivable for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively, which have been included in interest expense.
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FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data}

3  Summary of éigniﬁcant accounting policies and practices {continued)

()  Recently issued accounting standards

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No.123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”, which addresses the
accountjng for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services, with a
primary}focus on transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions.
This staiement is a revision to SFAS No. 123 and supersedes Accounting Principles Board (“APB™) Opinion No.
25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and its related implementation guidance. This statement will
require hweasurement of the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock compensation based on the
grant-déte fair value of the employee stock options. Incremental compensation costs arising from subsequent
“modifications of awards after the grant date must be recognized. The Company will adopt this statement on
January 1, 2006 under the modified prospective method of application. Under that method, the Company will
recogniﬁe compensation costs for new grants of share-based awards, awards modified after the effect date, and
the remaining portion of the fair value of the unvested awards at the adoption date. The initial adoption of this
statemeint will not have any effect on the Company’s 2006 consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No.151, “Inventory Costs”, which clarifies the accounting for abnormal
amounté of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). Under this statement,
such iteims will be recognized as current-period charges. In addition, the statement requires that allocation of
fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.
This statement will be effective for the Company for inventory costs incurred on or after January 1, 2006. The
initial .adoption of this statement will not have a significant effect on the Company’s 2006 consolidated financial
statements.

in Decehber 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets”, which eliminates an
exceptiQn in APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions”, for recognizing nonmonetary
exchanges of similar productive assets at fair value and replaces it with an exception for recognizing exchanges of
nonmonietary assets at fair value that do not have commercial substance. This statement will be effective for the
Comparfy for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring on or after January 1, 2006. The adoption of this statement
will not have a significant effect on the Company’s 2006 consolidated financial statements.

in N\arcﬁ 2005, the FASB issued FIN No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations” (“FIN 477).
FIN 47 cflariﬁes that an entity must record a liability for a “conditional” asset retirement obligation if the fair value
of the obligation can be reasonably estimated. The types of asset retirement obligations that are covered by this
interpretation are those for which an entity has a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity, however
the timihg and (or) method of settling the obligation are conditional on a future event that may or may not be
within the control of the entity. FIN 47 also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably
estimaté the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. FIN 47 is effective no later than the end of fiscal years
ended after December 15, 2005. The initial adoption of FIN 47 did not have an impact on the Company’s financial
conditic>§n and consolidated statements of income.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies and practices (continued)

(t) Recently issued accounting standards (continued)

In September 2005, the EITF issued EITF 04-13, “Accounting for Purchases and Sales of inventory with the
Same Counterparty”. EITF 04-13 provides guidance as to when purchases and sales of inventory with the same
counterparty should be accounted for as a single exchange transaction. EITF 04-13 also provides guidance as to
when a nonmonetary exchange of inventory should be accounted for at fair value. EITF 04-13 will be applied to
new arrangements entered into, and modifications or renewals of existing arrangements beginning in the first
interim or annual reporting beginning after March 15, 2006. The application of EITF 04-13 is not expected to have
a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “ Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments - an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140”. This statement amends SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities”, and SFAS No. 140, “ Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishments of Liabilities”. This statements resolves issues addressed in SFAS No. 133 Implementation
Issue No. D1, “Application of Statement 133 to Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets”. This statement
will be effective for the fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of the statement to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for servicing of Financial Assets - an amendment
of FASB Statement No. 140.” This statement amends SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of |
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” with respect to the accounting for separately recognized |
servicing assets and servicing liabilities. The statement requires an entity to recognize a servicing asset or servicing
liabitity each time it undertakes an obligation to service a financial asset by entering into a servicing contract in
certain situations and requires all separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities to be initially
measured at fair value, if practicable. The statement also provides guidelines to classification, disclosure and
subsequent measurement of servicing assets and servicing liabilities. This statement will be effective for the fiscal
years beginning after September 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the statement to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. ‘

In june 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in income Taxes” (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies
the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the Company’s financial statements in accordance with
SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attributes for the financial statement
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The provisions of FIN
48 are effective for the fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of the provisions of FIN 48 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

Depreciation; amortization, sales commissions, shipping and handling expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of lease prepayments are included in the following
captions: .

Years ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2005
Rmb Rmb Rmb uss
Cost of goods sold 88,737 84,907 86,491 10,717

Selling, general and administrative expenses 36,782 47,882 53,229 6,596

125,519 132,789 139,720 17,313

Sales commisisions to sales agents are included in the following caption:

Years ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005
Rmb Rmb Rmb

Selling, geneﬁal and administrative expenses 16,724 11,564 39,372

Sai_es related §hipping and handling expenses not separately billed to customers are included in the following caption:

Years ended December 31,

2003 2004
Rmb Rmb
Selling, gener‘_al and administrative expenses 64,991 86,163

Provision for |imcollectible loans to a related party

The amount répresents the recognition of specific doubtful debt provisions totaling Rmbzos,000 (US$25,402) on the
loans due from Yuchai Marketing and Logistic Company Limited (“YMLC”) as of December 31, 2005. YMLC is wholly owned
by Coomber |r3vestment Limited (“Coomber”), a shareholder of the Company and State Holding Company (collectively,
the “Chinese iShareholders”)‘,

i

in March andEMay 2004, Yuchai granted interest-free advances to YMLC at the request of the Yuchai’s PRC directors
to provide YMfLC with initial working capital for its start-up activities. YMLC was set up with the intention of offering a
complementairy range of services incliding spare parts distribution, insurance, vehicle financing and warranty servicing.
These advances were provided with the approval of the previous Chairman of Yuchai but without the prior approval by
the majority of the shareholders of Yuchai.

35
China Yuchai International Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2005



NOLES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALSTATEMENTS . ]

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

5  Provision for uncollectible loans to a related party (continued)

On December 2, 2004, these.advances were converted into formal loans and written agreements were executed between
Yuchai and YMLC through an authorized financial institution in the PRC. Under the terms of the loan agreements, the
loans were payable in their entirety on December 2, 2005 and interest, at the rate of 5.58% per annum, was payable on
a monthly basis. Further, the loans were secured by guarantees given by the Chinese Shareholders. interest income of
Rmb11,922 (US$1,477) was recognized in 2005 (see Note 7).

Because the loans had already been disbursed, the Chinese Shareholders had issued guarantees for these loans, and
the Company’s retationship with the Chinese Shareholders was improving, the Directors of Yuchai believed that it was
in the Company’s and Yuchai’s best interest to ratify the loans. Consequently, the loans were ratified by the Board of
Directors of Yuchai in April 2005.

In 2005, the Company discussed with the Chinese Shareholders the possibility of converting the loans into an equity
investment in YMLC, subject to the Yuchai Board’s approval. This potential alternative was incorporated within the terms
of the reorganization agreement entered into by the Company with Yuchai and Coomber on April 7, 2005 (“Reorganization
Agreement”). ' o

When the loans became due in December 2005, Yuchai was requested to extend the maturity date for the loans. However,
the Company and Yuchai had been unable to access the financial statements of YMLC. Consequently, the Directors from
the Company’s and Yuchai’s boards had doubts about YMLC’s ability to repay the loans. However, the Company and
Yuchai’s board of directors considered the request to extend the loans based on representations received from the
Chinese Shareholders and management of YMLC concerning their respective abilities and intentions to repay the loans
and honor their guarantees, and therefore agreed to extend the repayment date of the loans for an additional year. The
extension of the loans was approved by the Board of Directors of Yuchai on December 2, 2005. An agency bank was
appointed under PRC requirements to administer the Rmb2o5,000 loans and the legal method requires such loans to
be repaid and the funds re-disbursed. The new loans carry the same terms, including scheduled maturity in December 1,
2006. New guarantees were also granted by the Chinese Shareholders for these toans.

Later in December 2005, after it was agreed to extend the loans based on mutual understandings between YMLC, the
Chinese Shareholders and Yuchai, access to financial records of YMLC was made available. The Company conducted a
due diligence review, learned that YMLC was not profitable, and concluded that YMLC’s future prospects were dim. The
Company therefore decided not to pursue the conversion of loans into an equity investment in YMLC and aiso concluded
that YMLC will probably not have the financial resources to repay the loans when they become due in December 2006.

The Company discussed this matter with the Chinese Shareholders and management of YMLC and also considered the
financial position and financial resources of the State Holding Company and Coomber. CY! management has made an

. assessment of the future cash flows of the State Holding Company and Coomber and concluded that it is likely they
will not be able to honor their respective guarantees in the event YMLC is unable to repay the loans when they become
due.
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Provision for?uncollectible loans to a related party (continued)

Consequently, CY! management has identified a number of possible courses of action in the event YMLC is unable to
repay the loahs when they become due. These actions include:

e  Taking zjtctions to force YMLC to liguidate;

. Retainiﬁg portions of future dividends declared by Yuchai and payable to State Holding Company until the
guarantee obligations are fulfitled; and

. Commebcing legal action against YMLC and possibly the Chinese Shareholders.

The Company}’s management has ruled out any form of legal or other enforcement action against the Chinese Shareholders
as managem{ent believes that Yuchai may not be the first preferred creditor entitled to receive payment of the judgment
debt. Moreover, management believes that the process for enforcement of a judgment in China is complex and not as
effective whe;n compared with other jurisdictions. In addition management believes that the commencement of legal or
other enforcement actions will likely lead to a deterioration in relations with the Chinese Shareholders which could have
a materially aidverse impact on the Company’s investment in Yuchai and could lead to the impairment of shareholder
value of the Cbmpany. Consequently, management believes that it is currently beneficial to the Company’s shareholders
for managemfent to continue their dialogue and seek other possible arrangements with YMLC, Coomber and State
Holding Comr}any to resolve the repayment of the Rmbz2os,000 (US$25,402) loans rather than for it to resort to legal
and enfon:emient actions described above. However, considering the financial condition and management’s assessment
of the future prospects of YMLC and management's intention to not seek legal or enforcement actions pertaining to the
loans and reléted guarantees, management currently believes that it is probable it will be unable to recover any portion
of these loans.

Interest cost |

The Company; capitalizes interest charges as a component of the cost of construction in progress. The following is a
summary of ir}terest cost incurred during 2003, 2004 and 2005:

Years ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005
Rmb Rmb Rmb
Interest cost capitalized ’ 12,146 19,701 20,991
Interest cost charged to consolidated statements of
income 23,624 31,757 70,527

Total interest cost incurred ‘ 35,770 51,458 91,518 11,340
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7  Other (expenses)/income, net

Other (expenses)/income, net consist of:
Years ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005
Rmb Rmb Rmb
interest income (see Note 5) 3,587 3,286 21,744
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net (27) (38) 607
Dividend income from other investments - 4,591 -
Rental income : - - 6,078
Others, net (4,441) (2,157) (4,246) (526)
(881) 5,682 24,183 2,997
8 Income taxes
Bermuda tax

The Company is incorporated under the laws of Bermuda and, under the current Bermuda laws, is not subject to tax on
income or capital gains.

The Company has received an undertaking from the Minister of Finance in Bermuda pursuant to the provisions of
the Exempted Undertakings Tax Protection Act, 1966, which exempts the Company and its stockholders, other than
stockholders ordinarily resident in Bermuda, from any Bermuda taxes computed on profit, income or any capital assets,
gain or appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax at least until the year 2016.

PRC income tax

As Yuchai is a sino-foreign enterprise in the Western Region of the PRC that is engaged in an encouraged industry, its PRC
statutory income tax rate is 15% in 2003, 2004 and 2005 under the relevant PRC income tax laws.

The PRC income tax rates of Yuchai’s subsidiaries under the relevant PRC income tax laws are 15% to 33% in 2003, 2004
and 2005,

Income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income consists of:

Years ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2005

Rmb Rmb Rmb uUss
Current tax expense 106,671 104,049 32,726 4,055
Deferred tax expense/ (benefit) 6,253 1,116 (11,851) (1,468)

112,924 105,165 20,875 2,587
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Income taxes (continued)

Income tax eX_pense reported in the consolidated statements of income differs from the amount computed by applying
the PRC income tax rate of 15% for the three years ended December 31, 2005 for the following reasons:

Years ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2005
Rmb Rmb Rmb uss

Computed “e*pected” tax expense 104,536 113,078 17,586 2,179
Adjustments resulting from:
- Non-deductible expenses 1,232 471 5,703 707
- Tax credits (see Note (i) - (16,184) (43,535) (5,395)
- Change in valuation allowance - - 45,231 5,605
- Rate differential of subsidiaries 7,156 7,800 (4,110) (509)
Total tax expénse 112,924 105,165 20,875 2,587
Notes: ;

() Amount:s mainly represents tax credits relating to the purchase of domestic equipment for technological
improvement and the approved research and development costs.

(i Al taxable income and income tax expense are from PRC sources.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets at December 31,
2004 and 20@5 are presented below:

December 31,

2004 2005

Rmb Rmb
Trade accounts receivable 26,006 22,900
Inventories 6,678 8,336
Property, plan‘j and equipment 69,247 49,436
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 37,020 32,961
Tax losses car;ried forward 3,500 11,615
Tax credits - 43,535
Loans to a related party - 30,750
Total gross deferred tax assets 142,451 199,533 24,725
Less: Valuation allowance - (45,231) (5,605)
Net deferred tax assets 142,451 154,302
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8  Income taxes (continued)

The following table represents the classification of the Company’s net deferred tax assets:

December 31,
2004
Rmb
Net deferred tax assets comprise of:
Current portion 69,704
Non-current portion 72,747

142,451

As of December 31, 2005, a subsidiary of the Company was granted with tax credits amounted to Rmb43,535 (US$5,395)
in relation to the purchase of domestically produced equipment of which Rmb12,502 (US$1,549) would expire in 2008
and the remaining amount would expire in 2009. According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the amount
entitled for deduction each year is limited to the incremental current income tax expense of the subsidiary for the year
compared to the current income tax of the subsidiary in the year before the purchase of the equipment.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for PRC income tax purposes of Rmb47,182
(US$5,846), which are available to offset future taxable income, if any. Of which, Rmb13,328, Rmb13,630and Rmb20,224
would expire in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some

portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The management considered that it is more likely than not

that tax credits totalling Rmb33,834 (US$4,193) relating to the purchase of domestic equipment cannot be fully utilized

as the amount entitled for deduction each year is limited to the incremental current income tax expense of the subsidiary
compared to the current tax of the subsidiary for the years 2003 and 2004, when the related domestic equipment was
purchased and the management forecasted future taxable income of the subsidiary will not be sufficient to fully utilize

the tax credits. In addition, one of the subsidiaries has been loss making since its commencement of operations in 2004 |
and based on this, management has determined that it is more likely than not that the benefit of deferred tax assets in '
this entity totalling Rmb11,397 (US$1,412) will not be realized.
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Trade accounts receivable, net

Trade accounts receivable, net comprise:

Trade accounﬁs receivable
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts

Bills receivabl‘e

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

875,565

December 31,
2004 2005
Rmb Rmb
504,429 574,018
(107,457) (69,047)
396,972 504,971
478,593 641,256

An analysis ofzthe allowance for doubtful accounts for 2003, 2004 and 2005 is as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Add:

December 31,

2003
Rmb

158,075

Charge to co_nsolidated statements of income

Less:

Written back tb consolidated statements of income

Doubtful debts written off

Balance at end of year
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(493)
(63,159)

2004 2005 2005
Rmb Rmb uss
94,423 107,457 13,315
13,034 25,587 3,171

(63,997) (7,930)

94,423

107,457 69,047 8,556
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FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

9  Trade accounts receivable, net (continued)

At December 31, 2004 and 2005, gross trade accounts receivable due from a major customer, Dongfeng Automobile
Company and its affiliates (“the Dongfeng companies”), were Rmb142,788 and Rmb161,930 (US$20,065), respectively.
See Note 33 for further discussion of business concentration risk.

As of December 31, 2005, certain trade accounts receivable totalling Rmb42,835 (US$5,308) were pledged as security
under certain loan arrangements (see Note 18 (a)).

10 Amounts due from/to related parties

Amounts due from related parties comprise:

December 31,

2004
Rmb
Due within one year 85,614
Amounts due to related parties comprise:
December 31,
2004
Rmb
Due within one year 42,686

Related parties include Hong Leong Management Services Pte. Limited, YMLC, State Holding Company and their
subsidiaries and affiliates. At December 31, 2005, the amounts due from/to related parties are unsecured, interest free
and arose principally from transactions as disclosed in Note 27. All amounts due from/to related parties are payable
on demand.

In June 2006, YMLC and State Holding Company entered into an agreement with Yuchai to enable Yuchai and its
subsidiaries to settle the amounts due from/to YMLC, State Holding Company and their subsidiaries on a net basis, i.e.
the balance due fram/to YMLC, State Holding Company, their subsidiaries and affiliates as of December 31, 2005 were
off-setted.
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NOLES 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

Loans to customers, net

Loans to custbmers, net refer to the designated loans lent by the Company through financial institutions to customers.
The terms of the loan agreements were designated by the Company. The financial institutions assist the Company to
release the principal to the borrowers and collect the repayment on behalf of the Company without bearing the risk
of default by Ecustomers, if any. The loans carried interest rates ranged from 5.31% to 5.85% and were repayable in
instalments within one year. The loans are secured and guaranteed by independent third parties.

Inventories, net

Inventories comprise:

December 31,
2004 2005 2005
Rmb Rmb uss
Raw materialé 699,132 1,027,733 127,349
Work in progr‘ess 141,659 33,057 4,096

Finished goods 505,754 575,493 71,311

1,346,545 1,636,283

Other receivazbles, net

Other receivables, net comprise:

December 31,
2004
Rmb
VAT recoverable (see Note (i) . 91,977
Staff loans | 8,476
Staff advances 3,306
Receivable for factoring (see Note (ii) 6,845
Others 4,810
115,414 140,203

Notes:

(i) TheVvAT }ecoverable mainly represents a delay in the input VAT approval by the local tax bureau, totalling Rmbs58,872
(US%$7,295). The amount was subsequently settled in January 2006.

(i} In December 2004, Yuchai sold trade accounts receivable of Rmbé4,827 to a commercial bank. The balance
represented 10% of the sales amount withheld by the bank that would be released to the Company upon the
settlement of the trade accounts receivable. The amount withheld represented the full amounts which might be
claimediby the bank pursuant to recourse provisions. The amount was fully settied in 2005.
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(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

14

Property, plant and equipment, net
Property, plant and equipment, net comprise:

December 31,

2004 2005 2005

Rmb Rmb uss
Buildings 634,544 709,643 87,934
Machinery and equipment 1,547,112 1,888,567 234,017
2,181,656 2,598,210 321,951
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,022,725) EECRILHIIN! (143,205)

Net property, plant and equipment 1,158,931 1,442,515 178,746

In 2003, management determined that certain property, plant and equipment would no longer be used in production
due to the introduction of new environmental regulations in 2003. These changes required an impairment analysis to
be performed in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. The
estimated undiscounted future cash flows generated from such property, plant and equipment were less than their
carrying value. The carrying value of such assets was therefore reduced to their estimated fair value. impairment loss of
Rmb12,405 has been included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in 2003. Management has conducted
an impairment review on the conditions of the property, plant and equipment in 2004 and 2005 and considered no
impairment loss was deemed necessary in 2004 and 2005.

All of Yuchai and its subsidiaries’ buildings are located in the PRC.

As of December 31, 2004, certain plant and equipment of Yuchai with an aggregate carrying amount of Rmb172,630, was
pledged as security under certain loan arrangements (see Note 18(a)). The security was released in 2005.

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 is included
in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” as follows:

December 31,
2003 2004
Rmb Rmb
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3,359 12,998

The Company has several non-cancellable operating leases, primarily for offices and warehouses that expire over the
next four years. These leases generally contain renewal options for periods ranging from one year to four years.

4
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15

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

Property, plant and equipment, net (continued)

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases (with initial or remaining lease terms in excess
of one year) as of December 31, 2005 are:

Rmb uss
2006 ; 2,766 343
2007 Z 2,019 250
2008 1,084 134
2009 541 67
6,410 794

Rental expense for operating leases is included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” as follows:

December 31,
2003 2004
Rmb Rmb
Rental expensie 5,159 9,232

Construction in progress

Construction m progress comprises capital expenditures and capitalized interest charges relating to the following
construction df facilities and assembly lines projects:

December 31,
2004 2005 2005
Rmb Rmb uss
Diesel engine jproduction line and facilities projects 211,418 286,050 35,445
Factories auxiliary facilities 86,134 95,230 11,800

Second foundry 29,570 26,047 3,228
Others ’ 51,913 52,575 6,515

379,035
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(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

16 Lease prepayments, net

December 31,
2004 2005 2005
Rmb Rmb uss

Lease prepayments 99,111 98,157 12,163
Less: Accumulated amortization (24,344) (27,549) (3,414)

Lease prepayments, net 74,767

The land on which the Company’s buildings are erected is owned by the PRC Government. Yuchai and its subsidiaries
are granted the land use rights of 15 to 50 years in respect of such land.

17  Investments

(a) Investments as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 are summarized as follows:

December 31,
2004
Rmb
Available-for-sale equity securities (see Note) 6,405
Investments in affiliated companies 648
7,053

Note:

Available-for-sale equity securities are non-marketable equity securities and stated at cost due to the lack of
information to determine the fair value. The Company did not observe any event or change in circumstances that
would have resulted in the fair value being significantly less than its carrying amount.

(b) Investments in affiliated companies accounted for using the equity method as of December 31, 2004 and 2005

are as follows:
December 31,
2004 2005

) Rmb Rmb
Listed:
TCL (see Note (i)} - 185,021
Unlisted:
Others (see Note (ii)) 648 598

648 185,619 23,001
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FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

17 Investments (continued)

(b) Investments in affiliated companies accounted for using the equity method as of December 31, 2004 and 2005
are as fqllows (continued) :

Notes:

@

(i)

Thé Company acquired 264,000,000 ordinary shares and 17,795,664 ordinary shares of TCL (“TCL Shares™) on
Mairch 23, 2005 and September 5, 2005, representing 14.99% and 1.00% interests of the enlarged TCL Shares
at a consideration of Singapore dollars (“S$”) 30,880,000 (equivalent to Rmb152,133) and $$1,400,000
{eguivalent to Rmb 6,890) respectively. As a result, the Company held a 15.99% stake in TCL as of December
31, 2005. Among the 17,795,664 ordinary shares purchased on September 2005, 6,715,196 TCL Shares held
by the Company as of December 31, 2005 are subject to a call option which is exercisable by certain members
of the Thakral family (“Thakral Family Members”), who are stockholders of TCL.

The option was granted only to Thakral Family Members by the participating creditors in connection with a
scheme of arrangement dated October 24, 2001 in relation to TCL sanctioned by the High Court of Singapore
on%November 2, 2001 (“the Scheme”). The option price payable per TCL Shares under the call option is
S$0.25 plus an interest of Singapore Interbank offer rate plus 0.5% from March 27, 2002 until the completion
of the sale and purchase of the said TCL Shares pursuant to an exercise of the call option. The Company has
assessed the fair value of the options and determined that the value was not material. The 6,715,196 TCL
Shares were held by a share escrow account on trust for the Company pending release to the Company as of
December 31, 2005, subject to the call option. Assuming that the call option is not exercised by the Thakral
Family Members, all the 6,715,196 TCL Shares will be released by the share escrow agent to the Company by
August 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the call option has not been exercised.

The fair value, based on the quoted market price, of the TCL shares held by the Company was Rmb109,434
(US$13,560) as of December 31, 2005. Management considers the decline in fair value below the carrying
value to be not other than temporary as the Company has the ability and intent to hold its investment in TCL
for.a period that should atlow it to recover its carrying value.

Otﬁers represent the Company’s interest in certain entities in the PRC in which the Company has the ability
to exercise significant influence in its financial and operating policy decisions, but does not have controlling
financial interests.
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(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

17  Investments (continued)

(c) Summarized financial information regarding TCL as of December 31, 2005 and for the period from March 23,
2005 to December 31, 2005 is as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2005 2005

Rmb uss
Financial position
Current assets 932,008 115,488
Property, plant and equipment, net : 173,266 21,470
Other assets ) 453,327 56,173
Total assets 1,558,601 193,131
Current liabilities 337,971 41,879
Non-current liabilities 1,034 128
Long term debts 32,076 3,975
Total liabilities ’ 371,081 45,982

Stockholders’ equity 1,157,104 143,380
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 1,558,601 193,131

Minority Interests 30,416 3,769

China Yuchai International Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2005




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANC|A VLE

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

17  Investments (continued)

(¢ Summafized financial information regarding TCL as of December 31, 2005 and for the period from March 23,

2005 to December 31, 2005 is as follows (continued):

Results of operations

Net salé$

Period from
Mar 23, 2005
to December

31, 2005
Rmb

Supply chain management 1,531,913
109,526

Other$

Cost of goods sold

Gross prbﬁt
Selling, general and administrative expenses

Operatin;g loss

Finance cost

Other income

Equity in profit of affiliates

Loss before income taxes and minority interests
Income tax expense

Loss before minority interests
Minority interests in income of consolidated subsidiaries

Net loss

Other financial information:
Interest revenue
Interest expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Significant non-cash transactions:
Bad debt expense
Provision for inventory write-down
Impai;rment loss to property, plant and equipment
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1,641,439
(1,508,247)

133,192
(191,161}

(57,969)
(9.338)

34,906
281

(31,974)

5,703
9,338
10,576

11,629

33,493
16,031

Period from
Mar 23, 2005
to December

31, 2005
uss

203,395
(186,890)

(7.183)

(1,157)

4,325
35

(4,734)
772
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FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)
(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

18 Debt

(@) Short-term bank loans

Short-term bank loans were denominated in Renminbi as follows:

December 31,
2004 2005 200%
Rmb Rmb uss

Renminbi denominated loans 430,000 812,835 100,721

The weighted average interest rate of short-term bank loans at December 31, 2004 and 2005 was 5.28% and
5.52% per annum, respectively.

As of December 31, 2004, short-term bank loans of Rmbso0,000, were secured by the pledge of certain of Yuchai’s
plant and equipment (see Note 14). The amount was fully repaid in 2005.

As of December 31, 2005, short-term bank loans of Rmb42,835 (US$5,308), were secured by the pledge of certain
Yuchai's trade accounts receivable (see Note 9),

(b) Long-term bank loans

Yuchai’s long-term bank loans comprise:

Interest rate

at December December 31,
31, 2005 2004 2005
(per annum) Rmb Rmb
Renminbi denominated loans:
-duein 2006 4.94% - 5.49% 100,000 100,000
- due in 2007 5.85% - 50,000
Total long-term bank loans outstanding 100,000 150,000 18,587
Less: Amounts due within one year included
under current liabilities | - {100,000) (12,391
Amounts due after one year 100,000

All tong-term bank loans were unsecured as of December 31, 2004 and 2005.
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20

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Convertible debt

On February 23 2005, the Company issued US$25,000 (Rmb206,913) in principal amount of convertible debt (the
“Convertible Debt”) on a private placement basis. The Convertible Debt bear interest rate of 2% per annum and mature
in 2012, unless redeemed earlier in accordance with the terms of the Convertible Debt. The Convertible Debt were
fully exercised and converted to 1,927,673 ordinary shares in June 2005, thereby increasing the Company’s issued and
outstanding shares from 35,340,000 ordinary shares to 37,267,673 ordinary shares.

Accrued expehses and other liabilities

Accrued expeﬁses and other liabilities comprise:

December 31,
2004 2005
Rmb Rmb
Deposits from customers 54,165 96,936
Staff welfare payable (see Note) 15,041 15,041
Accrued product warranty (see Note 21) 126,114 142,126
Wages payabfe 110,577 98,732
Management bonus payable . 36,574 19,092
Payable for cdnstruction in progress 39,139 39,330
Accrued research and development expenses 16,472 24,952
Accrued adveftising expense 7,225 3,817
Accrued legalifee and other professional fees 2,762 5,050
Accrued expehses for litigation and guarantees
(see Note 24(c) and (d)) 15,268 18,921
Individual income tax withholding 8,161 10,250
Other accrual$ and liabilities 53,422 97,470
484,920 571,717
Note:

Staff welfare payable is determined by Yuchai’s Board of Directors. The payable can be applied towards the payment of
special bonuses or collective weifare benefits to staff and workers of Yuchai, such as staff dormitories and staff welfare
facilities.
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21

22

Accrued product warranty

An analysis of the accrued product warranty for 2003, 2004 and 2005 is as follows:

December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2005
Rmb Rmb Rmb uss
Balance at beginning of year 66,864 101,215 126,114 15,627
Allowance charged to consolidated statements of income 162,369 190,205 179,184 22,203

Less: Aliowance utilized (128,018) (165,306) (163,172) (20,219)
Balance at end of year 101,215 126,114 142,126 17,611
Statutory reserves

The Company’s attributable share in the statutory reserves of Yuchai and its subsidiaries for the three years ended
December 31, 2005 is as follows:

December 31,

2003 2004

Rmb Rmb
Statutory general reserve (see Note (ii))
Balance at January 1 116,702 156,111 170,041
Transfer from consolidated statements of income 39,409 13,930 239
Balance at December 31 156,111 170,041 170,280
Statutory public welfare fund (see Note (iii))
Balance at January 1 ' 28,398 48,103
Transfer from consolidated statements of income 19,705 22,379
Balance at December 31 48,103 70,482
General surplus reserve
Balance at January 1 and December 31 25,706 25,706
Total 229,920 266,229
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FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Statutory res?rves (continued)

Notes:

® In accordance with the relevant regulations in the PRC, Yuchai and its subsidiaries are required to provide certain
statutory reserves which are designated for specific purposes based on the net income reported in the PRC GAAP
financial statements. The reserves are not distributable in the form of cash dividends (see Note 30).

(i} In accordance with the relevant regulations in the PRC, a 10% appropriation to the statutory general reserve
based on the net income reported in the PRC financial statements is required until the balance reaches 50% of
the authorized share capital of Yuchai and its subsidiaries. Statutory general reserve can be used to make good
previous years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital by the issue of new shares to stockholders
in propartion to their existing shareholdings, or by increasing the par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the reserve balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the authorized share capital.

(i} Yuchai and its subsidiaries shall determine to transfer 5% to 10% of its net income reported in the PRC financial
statements to the statutory public welfare fund. There is no limit on the amount that may be allocated to this
fund. This fund can only be utilized on capital expenditure for the collective welifare of Yuchai and its subsidiaries’
employees, such as the construction of dormitories, canteen and other welfare facilities, and cannot be utilized
to pay staff welifare expenses. The transfer to this fund must be made before the distribution of a dividend to
stockholders.

Commitmenté

At December 31 2005, Yuchzi had the following commitments:

December 31,

Authorized ahd contracted for:

Improvement ito existing production facilities 214,098 26,529

Contingencies

(a) Product liability

' The Genéral Principles of the Civil Law of China and the Industrial Product Quality Liability Regulations imposes that
manufaéturers and sellars are liable for loss and injury caused by defective products. Yuchai and its subsidiaries
do not cérry product liability insurance. Yuchai and its subsidiaries have not had any significant product liabitity
claims b:rought against them.

(b) Environmental liability

The Gro@p’s production is subject to certain envirocnment protection laws and regulations in the PRC. In addition,
the mangfacture and sales of EURO | engines in major urban area became unlawful after December 31, 2004. After
that daté, the engines equipped with EURO | engines cannot be sold and used in major urban area. The Company
considefs that the compliance with applicable environment protection laws will not have any material adverse
impact tb Yuchai and its subsidiaries.
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24 Contingencies (continued)

(c) Dispute with Bank of China

In 2003, the Yulin Branch of Bank of China (“BOC”) initiated legal proceedings to recover RMB 6,603 (US$818) from

-Yuchai based on an irrevocable letter of guarantee issued by Yuchai to the BOC in 1993 to secure a loan of US$550
to Great Wall Machinery Plant (“Great Wall”). Attrial, a Yulin court ruled that if Great Wall could not pay the loan,
Yuchai would be liable to pay the guaranteed sum to the BOC. Yuhai appealed unsuccessfully.

In January 2004, the State Holding Company issued a letter of commitment confirming that it would reimburse
Yuchai in the event that Yuchai was required to pay on this guarantee.

Based on the advice from the Company’s Legal Counsel, the Company has recorded a loss contingency equal to
the amount of the claim. The amounts due to the BOC and from the State Holding Company have been recorded in
“Accrued expenses and other liabilities” and “Amounts due from related parties”, respectively.

In 2005, there were no new developments in this case.

(d) Guarantees

YEGCL guaranteed borrowings of Rmb7,605 and Rmb178,480 (US$22,116) granted by commercial banks to
unrelated parties in 2004 and 2005, respectively. The borrowings are due in equal monthly or quarterly instalments
through one to two years. The guarantees were made to individual persons who applied for mortgage loans from
commercial banks to purchase automobiles equipped with diesel engines produced by Yuchai. The guarantees are
for the entire amount and term of the borrowings. In return, YEGCL receives a premium fee amounted to 2% to 8%
of the amount of borrowings. All guarantees are secured by automobiles at a net book value totalling Rmb11,693
and Rmb242,216 (US$30,014) at December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. If the individual defaults on payment,
YEGCL would have to perform under the guarantees. It is reasonably possible that YEGCL would be required to
make payment under its guarantees. As of December 31, 2004 and 2005, the maximum amount of undiscounted
payments that YEGCL would have to make in the event of default is Rmb7,422 and Rmba34,235 (US$16,633).
Pursuant to the requirements of FIN 45, the Company accrued Rmb220 and Rmb16,811 (US$2,083) related to its
stand ready obligation under the guarantee arrangement in 2004 and 2005, respectively. The amount recognized
during the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 includes premium received or receivable, which is amortized
on a straight line basis over the terms of the guarantees, of Rmb220 and Rmb4,493 (US$557), respectively, The
amount of premium being amortized, which were recorded as revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2004
and 2005 were amounted to Rmb 14 and Rmb 1,167 (US$145), respectively. The remaining balance of Rmb 12,318
(US$1,526) as of December 31, 2005 represents the provision for loss contingency related to the guarantees where
payment by the Company was probable,

(e) Outstanding bills discounted

As of December 31, 2005, outstanding bilis discounted with banks for which the Company has retained a recourse
obligation totalled Rmb1,373,723 (US$170,222).

54 ‘
China Yuchai International Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2005

.




AOTES [0 CONSO D FINANCIA VLE

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share datq)

24 Contingencie$ {continued)

25

) OutstanHing {etters of credit

As of December 31, 2005, the Company issued irrevocable letters of credit totalled Rmb110,257 (US$13,662).

(g) Other ozfttstanding litigation

In addition to the matters disclosed in Note 24(c), the Company is involved in various other claims and legal
actions érising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
0peratio§ns, or liquidity.

Dispute with State Holding Company

The Companyfhas from time to time in the period up to 2005 encountered difficulties in obtaining the cooperation of
the State Holding Company, and its former Chairman, Mr Wang Jianming, in the daily management and operation of
Yuchai, includiing obtaining payments of the Company’s share of the final 2001 dividend declared in August 2002. Mr
Wang }ianminé ceased to serve as the Chairman, legal representative and chief executive officer of Yuchai, as well as
the Chairman and legal representative of the State Holding Company, the principal Chinese shareholder of Yuchai with
effect from Oétober 28, 2005. The new Chairman and legal representative of these companies is Mr Yan Ping whose
appointment \}vas confirmed on December 2, 2005,

The Chinese sjtakeholders had previously asserted that the transfer of ownership of shares with respect to Yuchai in
November 1994, in connection with the Company’s initial public offering (“IPO”), was not validly approved by the Chinese
autharities, ahd that as a result the Company’s exercise of control over Yuchai has been improper.

As a result ofga number of meetings between the parties, the Company and Yuchai entered into an agreement in July
2003 (the “]ufy 2003 Agreement”) to work together in trying to jointly promote mutual plans to enhance the Company’s
shareholder value.

On April 7, 2oci)5, the Company entered into a Reorganisation Agreement (“Reorganisation Agreement”) with Yuchai and
Coomber in fuirtherance of the terms of the July 2003 Agreement, and the terms of this agreement were acknowledged
and agreed to by the State Holding Company. The Reorganisation Agreement was extended to December 31, 2006
by way of the’fReorganisation Agreement Amendment No. 1 dated December 2, 2005. The Reorganisation Agreement
Amendment No. 1 was similarly acknowledged and agreed to by the State Holding Company.

The principalﬁterms contained in the Reorganisation Agreement relating to governance related issues have been
addressed by Yuchai.

Yuchai has taken all necessary steps and submitted all necessary documents to enable the amended and restated
Articles of Asfsociation of Yuchai as approved by its directors and shareholders in 1996 incorporating the corporate
governance ggidelines approved by its directors and shareholders on November 1, 2002 to be approved, formalized,
endorsed, registered and filed with the relevant governmental authorities. The formal approval of these amended
Articles of Ass‘:‘ociation is awaited from the PRC Ministry of Commerce (“MQOC").
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25 Dispute with State Holding Company (continued)

Promptly upon receipt of the approval from the MOC of the Articles of Association, Yuchai would formalize the
implementation of the corporate governance guidelines approved by its directors and shareholders on November 1,
2002 and establish an appropriate corporate governance structure conforming to international custom and practice.

Yuchai has begun to implement the compliance programme for the internal controls over financial reporting of Yuchai
with respect to section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Up to the date of this report:

() the board and shareholders of Yuchai have, at a duly convened board meeting held on April 21, 2005 and a duly
convened shareholders meeting held on May 16, 2005, approved the following principal matters relating to the
Reorganisation Agreement:

- the proposed capitalization of YMLC was varied by the board of directors of Yuchai at its meeting on April
21, 2005 and approved by its shareholders. Coomber has assumed the obligation to return RMB165,400
(US$20,495) of the authorized RMB205,000 (US$25,402) loan that was made by Yuchai to YMLC and which
had been guaranteed by Coomber to Yuchai by December 6, 2005. The remaining RMB39,600 (US$4,907)
loan would remain as a loan by Yuchai to YMLC and would only be injected as share capital of YMLC after the
successful spin-off of Yuchai in line with the terms of the Reorganisation Agreement;

a dividend payment for the financial years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 in the amount of
RMB302,713; '

the establishment and appointment of members of three sub-committees under the board, comprising the
nominations committee, the remuneration committee and the audit committee;

the establishment of a financial committee to approve ali borrowings, guarantees, loans issuance of company
debt and investment;

the termination of the sales of the spare parts business of one of its subsidiaries;
the payment of US$20,000 to the Company pursuant to the Reorganisation Agreement;

the acceptance of the appointment of two independent directors of Yuchai and confirmation of the
appointment of three directars appointed by holders of States Shares of Yuchai and six directors appointed
by holders of Foreign Shares of Yuchai; and

- the appointment of one independent director nominated by the hoiders of State Shares of Yuchai, and three
independent directors nominated by the holders of Foreign Shares of Yuchai.
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25 Dispute with State Holding Company (continued)
Up to the date of this report: (continued)

(i an interﬁationally reputable financial adviser had been engaged by Yuchai to assist Newco (as defined below)
to applyi for the listing of its shares on the NYSE and assist the Company with the implementation of the spin-
off. Puréuant to the Reorganization Agreement, a Bermuda corporation (“Newco”) will be formed where (a) the
Company will contribute its 76.4% indirect interest in Yuchai to in exchange for a number of Newco share equal to
the number of outstanding shares of the Company as of April 7, 2005; (b} its board of directors would comprise
of nomil'iees from the Company and Yuchai in the same respective proportions to the nominees of the holders of
Foreign $hares of Yuchai and the holders of State Shares of Yuchai on the Yuchai board of directors; and (c) its
charter documents and officers would be mutually agreeable to the Company and Yuchai and on the completion
date of fhe Restructuring Exercise (as described in the Reorganization Agreement) the Company shall have no
appointées to its board of directors. The appointment of the financial adviser was subsequently terminated
pending;Yuchai’s ongoing review of the implementation of the corporate reorganization contemplated in the
Reorganization Agreement;

(iii) the Yuchfai board of directors subsequently directed a review of YMLC’s financial position and the implementation
of the recapitalization plans for YMLC has been deferred pending the successful spin-off of Yuchai in line with
the terms of the Reorganisation Agreement;

(iv) the Com?pany has received payment of an advisory fee in the amount RMB12,105 (US$1,500) from Yuchai as
provided for under the Reorganisation Agreement; and

(v) the Company has received its share of the dividend declared and paid by Yuchai in respect of the financial years
ended Décember 31, 2003 and 2004 on May 24, 2005 for amount of RMB225,207 (U$$27,906).

The principal ﬁerms of the Rearganization Agreement Amendment No. 1 are as follows:
(1) Clause 18 of the Reorganization Agreement was perviously stated as:

“In consifderation of CYI's agreement to ensure that Coomber witl under the terms of the share exchange described
in clausé 2.4 receive no less than 6,354,911 Newco shares, Yuchai shall, within 5 business days from the date that
an unquéliﬁed audit report is issued on CY/l’s financial statements in the form substantially similar to that of the
unauditéd financial statements filed by CYlin its Form 6K dated February 28, 2005, pay CY! an amount of US$20.0
million m cash into such bank account as CYI shall notify Yuchai in writing.”

was deleted and replaced with the following text:

“In consfderation CYP’s agreement to ensure that Coomber will under the terms of the share exchange in Clause
2.4 receive no less than 6,354,911 Newco shares, Yuchai shall on the earlier of (i) the date of the completion of the
transactions described in Clause 2.6 and (ii) December 31, 2006 pay CY! an amount of US$20.0 million in cash to
such ban;k account as CYl shall notify Yuchai in writing.”
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25 Dispute with State Holding Company (continued)
The principal terms of the Reorganization Agreement Amendment No. 1 are as follows: (continued)
(2) Clause 2.10 of the Reorganization Agreement, which was stated as:

“The parties acknowledge and accept that the CYl Group, as majority shareholders of Yuchai and with majority
control of the Board of Directors of Yuchai, may cause the employment of Yuchai’s current Chief Executive Officer

. to be terminated in accordance with the terms of his employment agreement. CY| acknowledges and accepts,
however, that the successful implementation of the Restructuring Exercise will require the continued uninterrupted
involvement and participation of Yuchai’s current Chief Executive Officer on and subject to the terms (including
remuneration) of his employment agreement. Accordingly, CYI agrees that it will not, and will procure that its
appointees to the Board of Directors of Yuchai do not, take any action prior to the completion of the Restructuring
Exercise that will interfere with, or cause the termination of, the employment of Yuchai’s current Chief Executive
Officer except if he were to be prosecuted or convicted for any activities of a criminal nature.”

was deleted in its entirety with effect from October 27, 2005,
(3) Clause 4 of the Reorganization Agreement was previously stated as:

“In the event that the parties are unable to complete the events described in each of clauses 2.1, 2.2, 2.4, 2.5
and 2.6 above (not due to the default of either party) by 5:00p.m. on December 31, 2005 (or if such day is not a
business day in Hong Kong, the immediately succeeding business day) (or such other date to be mutually agreed
between the parties), the provision of this Agreement shall terminate and in such event no party shall have any
claim against any other party for any claims, damages, losses or other costs and expenses arising from such
termination.”

the date appearing in the third line of Clause 4 of the Reorganization Agreement was deleted and substituted with
the words “December 31, 2006 or such other date as the parties may agree in writing”.

Yuchai, Coomber and the State Holding Company have at various times reaffirmed their respective intentions of working
with the Company to carry out their respective obligations under the Reorganization Agreement.

26 Retirement and other post retirement benefits

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, Yuchai and its subsidiaries participate in defined contribution retirement
plans organized by the Guangxi Regional Government and Beijing City Government for its staff. All staff are entitled to
an annual pension equal to a fixed proportion of their final basic salary amount at their retirement date. For the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, Yuchai and its subsidiaries were required to make contributions to the
retirement plan at a rate of 20.0% of the basic salary of their staff. The Guangxi Regional Government and Beijing City
Government are responsible for the entire obligations of all Yuchai and its subsidiaries’ retires. Expenses incurred in
connection with the plan were Rmb24,101, Rmb29,868 and Rmb33,299 (US$4,126), respectively, for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005.

Yuchai and its subsidiaries have no obligation for the payment of pension benefits or any other post retirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions described above.
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27 Other relatedéparty transactions

In addition td the loans to YMLC (as disclosed in Note 5), the Company has undertaken other significant business
transactions With related parties during the three years ended December 31, 2005. The following is a summary of these
transactions: |

Years ended December 31,

2003 2004
Rmb Rmb
Sales of trucks from customers
to Guangxi YQchai Mechanical and Electronics
Company (“GYMEC”) (see Note (i)) 1,346 753
Sales of diesel engines to State Holding Company,
its subsidiaries and affiliates (see Note (ii)) 23,611 3,784 7,646 947

Purchase of raw materials and supplies from
subsidiaries and affitiates of State Holding Company
(see Note (ii)) (93,056) (142,829) (235,329) (29,160)

Purchase of raw materials and supplies from YMLC

(see Note (jii)) - (60,756) (7,528)
Purchase of trucks from YMLC (see Note (jii)) . (95,391) (77,324) (9,581)
Processing fee to YMLC (see Note (iv)) - (12,329) (44,407) (5,503)
Delivery expense charged by a subsidiary of YMLC

(see Note (iv)) (62,206) (65,468) (126,028) (15,616)
General and administrative expenses

- charged by State Holding Company

(see Note (v)) ‘ (30,607) (21,180) (25,931) (3,213)

- charged by HLA (see Note (xii) (4,427) (4,142) (4,035) (500)

- charged by an affiliate of HLA (see Note (vi)) - - (30,765) (3,812)
Gain on dispoSat of land use rights to a subsidiary of State

Holding Company (See Note (vii)) - - 2,533 314
Loan from State Holding Company (see Note (viii)) 8,000 ' - -
Assignment ofdebt to GYMEC (see Note (ix)) 3,700
Consultancy fee paid on behalf of Coomber

(see Note (X)) 13,347
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27 Other related party transactions (continued)

Notes:
() Sales of diesel trucks to GYMEC

GYMEC was formerly a subsidiary of State Holding Company. It became a subsidiary of YMLC following a share
transfer from State Holding Company to YMLC in 2004. During 2003 and 2004, Yuchai received diesel trucks from
certain customers as part of the settlement of their trade accounts receivable. Pursuant to an agreement between
.Yuchai and GYMEC, Yuchai sold such diesel trucks at cost to GYMEC, which owns a business license for selling
diesel trucks in the PRC. Yuchai recorded a receivable from GYMEC in connection with the truck sales. The amount
due from GYMEC is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

(i)  Sale and purchase of raw materials, supplies and diesel engines to/from State Holding Company, its subsidiaries
and affiliates.

Certain subsidiaries and affiliates of State Holding Company have acted as suppliers of raw materials and supplies
to the Company and certain subsidiaries of State Holding Company have acted as sales agents of the Company.
The Company considers that these transactions were entered into in the normal course of business and expects
that these transactions will continue on normal commercial terms.

(ii)) Purchase of raw materials, supplies and trucks from YMLC

Since July 2004, subsidiaries of YMMC have engaged in the sale of trucks which were mainly supplied by and
purchased from YMLC. YMLC has also become a supplier of raw materials and supplies to the Company since 2005.
The Company considers that these transactions were entered into in the normal course of business and expects
that these transactions will continue on normal commercial terms.

(iv) Processing fee and delivery expense charged by YMLC and its subsidiaries

The fee is for the packaging and delivering of spare parts charged by YMLC, which was recorded in “Cost of
goods sold” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” respectively. The Company considers that these
transactions were entered into in the normal course of business and expects that these transactions will continue
on normal commercial terms.

(v) General and administrative expenses

State Holding Company charges Yuchai for certain general and administrative expenses in respect of rental of
certain office premises, property management services rendered by State Holding Company. The expenses are
charged to Yuchai and its subsidiaries by State Holding Company on an actual incurred basis. The Company
believes that the expenses charged to Yuchai by State Holding Company would not have been materially different
on a stand-alone basis because Yuchai could provide these services for itself at approximately the same amount.

(vi) Service fee to an affiliate of HLA

The fee was paid to Hong Leong Management Services Pte Ltd., an affiliate of HLA. Service fee includes Rmbg,167
{US$1,136) in relation to the consultancy services performed for the acquisition of interests in TCL during 2005
and LKN-Primefield Limited (“LKN”) in 2006 (see Note 34(a)). The remaining amounts were mainly in relation to
secure additional credit facilities and enter into the Reorganization Agreement. The transactions were approved
by the Board of Directors. The Company considers that the transactions were entered into in the normal course of
business.
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27 Other related% party transactions (continued)

Notes (continued) :

(vii) Gain onfdisposa[ of land use rights to a subsidiary of State Holding Company

The Coﬁpany has disposed of certain land use rights with net book value of Rmb1,047 (US$130) to a subsidiary of
State Holding Company for a consideration of Rmb3,580 (US$444). The Company considers that the transaction
was entered into in the normal course of business.

(viii) Loan from State Holding Company

In 2003, GYSPM has entered into an agreement with State Holding Company for a borrowing of Rmb8,000 for its
operating activities as of December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2003, GYSPM pledged certain of its assets with
net book value of Rmb17,132 against bank loan of Rmb8,000 borrowed by State Holding Company. The terms set
out in the loan agreement entered into between State Holding Company and the bank and the loan agreement
entered into between GYSPM and State Holding Company are identical. The loan proceeds from the bank borrowed
by State Holding Company were solely lent to GYSPM. State Holding Company would make repayments to the
bank upon receipt of loan repayment from GYSPM. The loan was fully repaid in 2004.

(ix) Assignment of debt to GYMEC

x

In 2003, the Company entered into a deed of assignment (“the Deed”) whereby one of the Company’s customers
assigned all the rights and liabilities of the outstanding amount due to the Company totalling approximately
Rmb1s,000 to GYMEC. Pursuant to the Deed, GYMEC became one of the sales agents of this customer who is
principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of motor vehicles. As of December 31, 2004, the outstanding
balances due from GYMEC related to this assignment was Rmb3,700 and the amount was fully repaid in 2005.

Consultancy fee paid on behalf of Coomber

In 2003, the Company entered into an agreement, totalling Rmbé0o,000 with a consultancy company in connection
with the design of an information system for YMLC to be undertaken by Coomber pursuant to which Coomber has
agreed to pay for all expenses incurred by the Company in respect of this project on or before 31 December 2004.
In 2003, the Company incurred payments totalling Rmb13,347 in respect of the project, which have been recorded
in amounts due from related parties. The amount was subsequently repaid in 2004.

(xi) Amount§ due from/fo related parties

Amounté due from/to related parties arise mainly from the transactions as stated above.

In addition to the above, Yuchai also entered into transactions with other PRC Government owned enterprises. The
Company considers that these transactions were entered into in the normal course of business and expects that
these transactions will continue on normal commercial terms. Balances with other PRC entities are excluded from
this caption.

- (xii) Amount due to the holding company

Amounthue to the holding company comprise mainly general and administrative expenses charged by the holding
company in relation to the management, financial planning and control and other services provided to Yuchai. The
balance is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

61
China Yuchai International Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2005




N

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN

FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2004 AND 2005 (CONTINUED)

(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

28 Segment information

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”, establishes standards for
reporting information about operating segments in financial statements. Operating segments are defined as components
of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating
decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The Company’s operating segments are Yuchai and TCL for the year ended December 31, 2005. Prior to the purchase of
TCL, the Company’s only operating segment was Yuchai.

The segment result for Yuchai is based on income before income taxes and minority interests. The segment result for TCL
is the Company’s equity in the netincome or losses of TCL. Segment assets for Yuchai are based on total assets of Yuchai.
Segment assets for TCL are based on the Company’s net investment in TCL. Substantially all of the Company’s operations
including TCL are in the PRC. Consequently no geographic information is presented. Further segment information about
TCLis included in Note 17 (c).

Following is the segment information for the year ended December 31, 2005:

Yuchai
2005
Rmb
Segment revenue from external customers 5,829,431
Interest revenue ' 21,744
Interest expenses 70,527
Depreciation and amortisation 139,720
Equity in losses of affiliates 50
Segment profit/ (loss) 171,585
Significant non-cash items:
- Provision for uncollectible loans to a related party 205,000
- Bad debt expense 25,587
- Provision for inventory write-down 15,990
- Provision for losses on guarantees 12,318 ‘
|
Segment assets 6,168,184 185,021 1
Total expenditures for additions to long-lived assets 515,359
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Reconciliatior{ of segment information to the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 2003,

2004 and 2005,

Total segmenf profit

Service feeito an affiliate of HLA (see Note 27) -
Other corporate general and administrative expenses (25,435) (19,717) (18,522)

Consolidated fincome before income taxes and minority interests 696,906 753,854

Total assets fc}r reportable segment
Corporate cash and cash equivalents

Other corpordte assets

Consolidated étotal assets

2003 2004 2005
Rmb Rmb Rmb

722,341 773,571 166,529

- (30,765)

3,806,463 5,268,660 6,353,835
129,795 108,514 247,332
7:374 7,074 12,618

4,033,632 5,384,248

Revenues frorh external customers by product category are summarized as follows:

|
Revenues, net

4108 Light-Ddty Diesel Engines
4110 Light-Duty Diesel Engines
4112 Light-Duty Diesel Engines
6105 Medium?Duty Diesel Engines
6108 Mediumf—Duty Diesel Engines
6112 Heavy-Duty Diesel Engines
6113 Heavy-D':uty Diesel Engines
Diesel Engine Parts

Others * "

Years ended December 31,

2003 2004

Rmb Rmb
174,173 325,242 688,265 85,285
328,993 544,297 596,565 73,922
266,639 314,453 322,266 39,933
911,190 1,143,535 1,748,847 216,704
1,504,140 1,372,073 810,859 100,475
1,003,791 1,203,558 786,989 97,518
3,697 97,368 193,280 23,950
228,500 446,135 489,480 60,653
148,827 135,434 192,880 23,900

4,569,950 5,582,095 5,829,431 722,340

*  QOthers majnly represent the revenues earned through sales of motor vehicle chassis and power generators.
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29

30

31

Foreign currency exchange

The Renminbi is not fully convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign exchange transactions involving Renminbi must
take place either through the PBOC or other institutions authorized to buy and sell foreign exchange. The exchange
rate adopted for the foreign exchange transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by the PBOC which are determined
largely by supply and demand.

Foreign currency payments, including the remittance of earnings outside of the PRC, must be arranged through banks
authorized to conduct foreign exchange business. )

Distribution of profits

The Company’s sources of cash flow are its share of the dividends, if any, paid by Yuchai and TCL to the Company. With
respect to dividends by Yuchai, applicable PRC laws and regutations require that, before it can distribute profit to its
stockholders it must satisfy all tax liabilities, recover losses in previous years and make contributions to certain statutory
reserves as discussed in Note 22. Such dividends may be paid partly in Renminbi and partly in foreign currency. In the
event that dividends are distributed in Renminbi, the dividends may be converted into foreign currency and remitted
in accordance with relevant PRC laws, regulations and policies and to the extent permitted by PRC market conditions.
Dividends of Yuchai are determined based on distributable profit reported in its PRC GAAP financial statements, after
appropriation to statutory reserves. Such distributable profits differ from the amounts reported under U.S. GAAP. No
similar provisions were imposed with respect to dividends by TCL. '

Under the Companies Act of 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the Company’s contributed surplus is available for
distribution to stockholders.

Derivative instrument and hedging activities

For the periods presented, the Company and its subsidiaries did not enter into transactions with respect to derivative
instruments. The Company and its subsidiaries do not hedge risk exposures or speculate using derivative instruments.
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Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value ciJfa financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between wi‘llirig parties. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, bills receivable,
short term arﬁounts due from related parties, prepaid expenses, other receivables, short-term bank loans, current
instalments of long-term bank toans, trade accounts payable, amount due to the holding company and amounts due to
related partie$ approximates their fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. It was not practicable
for Yuchai to éstimate the fair value of its equity investment for which a quoted market price is not available because
it has not yet obtained or developed the valuation model necessary to make the estimate, and the cost of obtaining an
independent \Zaluation appears excessive considering the materiality of the equity investment to Yuchai. Yuchai does
not believe thé carrying value of the equity investment will be significantly different from its fair value.

Cash and casﬁ equivalents of Yuchai and its subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies have been translated at the
balance sheet date into Renminbi at rates quoted by the PBOC. Yuchai does not have and does not believe it will have
any difficulty in exchanging its foreign currency cash for Renminbi.

The carrying amount of long-term bank loans approximates their fair value based on the borrowing rates currently
available for bank loans with similar terms and average maturities.

Significant cohcentrations and risks

(a) Customer concentration

Substanfially all of the Company’s customers are located in the PRC. The following are the customers that
individually comprise 10% or more of gross revenue in any of the relevant periods:

Years ended December 31,

2003 2004
Rmb Rmb

Liuzhou Dongfeng Automobile (see Note (i) 391,086 830,018

Hubei angfeng Automobile (see Note (ii)) 613,448 344,910

Notes:

0] Sa:les to Liuzhou Dongfeng Automobile for the year ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 was
ap'proximately 8.6%, 14.9% and 6.6% of total sales.

(i Salesto HubeiDongfeng Automobile forthe yearended December 31,2003, 2004 and 2005 was approximately
13, 4%, 6.2% and 5.7% of total sales.
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33 Significant concentrations and risks (continued)

(a) Customer concentration (continued)

Al the above customers are controtled by or affiliated with Dongfeng Automobile Company. At December 31, 2004
and 2005, approximately 29% and 13% of gross trade accounts receivable, respectively, were due from these
customers. The Company considers its relationships with these major customers to be good, however, the loss of
one or more of the Company’s major customers would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations.

(b) Nature of operations

During periods of economic expansion, the demand of trucks, construction machinery and other application
of diesel engines generally increases. Conversely, during economic slowdowns the diesel engine industry is
generally adversely affected by a decline in demand. As a result, the performance of Chinese economy will affect
the Company’s business and prospects by a significant degree.

(c) Transactions involving Yuchai’s Chinese Shareholders

Although the Company has proper legal ownerships and a controlling financial interest of 76.41% interest in
Yuchai, the Company has from time to time encountered difficulties in obtaining the cooperation of the State
holding Company and Coomber. As part of the terms of the Reorganization Agreement, Yuchai and State Holding
Company acknowledged and reaffirmed the Company’s continued rights as majority shareholder to direct the
management and policies of Yuchai through Yuchai’s board of directors. However, no assurance can be given that
disagreements or difficulties with Yuchai’s management of State holding Company and Coomber will not recur. In
addition, as described in Note 5, Yuchai was entered into transactions that involve the Chinese Shareholders that
have resulted in losses. No assurance can be given that future transactions involving the State Holding Company,
Coomber and their related parties will be conducted on an arm-length basis or otherwise be beneficial to the
Company. Consequently, such disagreements, or difficulties and transactions involving State Holding Company,
Coomber and their related parties could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
position, operating results and cash flows.
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34 Subsequent events

(a) Acquisifion of debt and equity in an investment-holding company

In Febrﬁary 2006, the Company acquired approximately S$129.4 million (equivalent to Rmb626 million) in principal
amount;of secured bonds (“the Bonds”), 123,010,555 redeemable convertible preference shares (the “Preference
Shares”), and 191,413,465 ordinary shares (“the Ordinary Shares”) (collectively, “the Sale Securities™) issued by LKN
for an aggregate purchase consideration of approximately $$132 million (equivalent to approximately Rmb639
million)g(“the Aggregate Purchase Consideration”) from certain banks, financial institutions, corporations and
individuiais (collectively “the Seliers™). Immediately following the purchase, the Company holds 29.13% of the
Ordinary Shares based on LKN’s total Issued and Qutstanding Ordinary Shares or approximately 40.30% of
the Ordinary Shares of LKN assuming fult conversion of the 123,010,555 Preference Shares.

LKN is aéco,mpany listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange and is primarily engaged in the business of
investm@ant holding and hospitality businesses in Asia.

The Company initially intends to account for the Ordinary Shares of LKN using equity method and the Bonds and
Preference Shares as available-for-sales securities.

(b) Rights i§sue of LKN

On Febriuary 28, 2006, LKN announced a proposed renounceable rights issue of zero coupon unsecured non-
convertible bonds due 2009 {the “New Bonds”} and non-redeemable convertible cumulative preference shares in
the capiial of LKN (the “New NCCPS™) (the “Rights Issue™). The purpose of the Rights Issue of LKN is to raise funds
for redeéming the existing Bonds and for working capital purpose. The Company has provided LKN an irrevocable
undertaking to subscribe in full and by way of excess application, all New Bonds and New NCCPS not taken up by
other stockholders of LKN.

On Julyi4, 2006, the Company was allotted 196,201,374 New NCCPS and S$%$130,800,917 New Bonds at an
aggregaie consideration of approximately S$135 million (equivalent to approximately Rmb 655 million). Assuming
full conversion of the existing Preference Shares and New NCCPS, the Company’s equity interest in LKN would
increasé from 40.3% to 51.7%. In the event the Company obtains a controlling financial interest in LKN, then LKN
would bfecome a subsidiary of the Company and its financial statements would be included in the consolidated
ﬁnancia[ statements of the Company from that point forward.
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(Rmb and US$ amounts expressed in thousands, except per share data)

34 Subsequent events (continued)

(c)

Rights issue of TCL

In January 2006, TCL conducted a renounceable non-underwritten rights issue of new shares (“Rights Shares”) at

" an issue price of S$0.08 (equivalent to approximately Rmbo.39) for each Rights Share; and a renounceable non-

(d)

(e)

underwritten rights issue of unsecured 2% convertible bonds due 2009 (“Convertible Bonds”) in the denomination
of $%0.8 (equivalent to approximately Rmbs3.9) for each Convertible Bond.

On February 16, 2006, the Company was allotted 87, 860, 288 Rights Shares and 52,933,440 Convertible Bonds in
TCL for an aggregate cash consideration of $$49,400,000 (equivalent to approximately Rmb239,758).

As a result of the rights issues, the Company’s equity interest in TCL increase from 15.99% to 19.36%, and would
increase to 36.85% assuming full conversion of the Convertible Bonds held by the Company.

New bank facility

In January to March 2006, the Company entered into additional unsecured credit facilities with certain banks for
approximately S$170 million (equivalent to approximately Rmb825 million). The facilities may only be utilized by
the Company in connection with certain limited circumstances relating to its business expansion activities. The
terms of the facilities require, among other things, that HLA retains ownership of the Company’s special share
and that the Company remains a consolidated subsidiary of HLA. The terms of the facilities also include certain
financial covenants with respect to the Company’s tangible net worth and net gearing ratio throughout the tenor of
the facility, as well as negative pledge provisions and customary drawdown requirements and events of default.

Issuance of corporate bonds by Yuchai

in March 2006, Yuchai applied to the PBOC to issue short term bonds to Rmb1,000,000 (US$123,912). The
application was approved by PBOC on May 30, 2006 and the first tranche of bonds of Rmbs00,000 (US$61,956)
was issued on June 12, 2006. The bonds were issued at discount and an amount totalling Rmb488 million was
received by Yuchai. The bonds mature on March 9, 2006 and the funds will be used to pay off existing bank loans.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

CHINA YUCHA! INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
To the Shareholders

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of CHINA YUCHAI INTERNATIONAL
LIMITED (the “Company”) will be held at Hotel Nikko, 72 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong on
Friday, September 15, 2006 at 2:30 p.m. for the following purposes:

As Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the audited financial statements and independent auditors’ report for the year ended
December 31, 2005.

2. To approve an increase in the limit of the Directors’ fees as set out in Bye-law 10(11) of the Bye-laws of the
Company from US$250,000 to US$500,000 for the financial year 2006.

3. Tore-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Bye-law 4(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company to hold office
until the next annual general meeting of the Company:

0] Mr Teo Tong Kooi

(iD) Mr Gao Jia Lin

(i) Mr Kwek Leng Peck
(iv) Mr Gan Khai Choon
W) Mr Wong Hong Ren
(vi) Mr Philip Ting Sii Tien
(vii) Mr Tan Aik-Leang
{viii)  Mr Neo Poh Kiat

4. To authorize the Board of Directors to appoint Directors up to the maximum of 11 or such maximum number as
determined from time to time by the shareholders in general meeting to fill any vacancies on the Board.

5. Tore-appoint Messrs KPMG as independent auditors of the Company and to authorize the Audit Committee to fix
their remuneration.

6. To transact any other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

By Order of the Board

Teo Tong Kooi
President
August 14, 2006

Notes:

1. The holder of the Special Share of the Company has the exclusive right to vote for the appointment and election of six Directors. Furthermaore,
no resolution of Shareholders may be passed without the affirmative vote of the Special Share.

2. Only shareholders of record at the close of business on August 28, 2006 shall be entitled to notice of and to vote at the Meeting.
3. Mr Raymond Chi-Keung Ho, a Director retiring at the Meeting pursuant to Bye-law 4(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company has notified the

Company that he will not be seeking re-election as Directar at the Meeting. Consequent thereto, Mr Ho will also cease to act as member of
the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee, following the conclusion of the Meeting.
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